
High Peak Borough Council

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Monday, 22 February 2021

Time: 1.30 pm

Venue: Virtual Meeting

You can view the agenda 
online by using a smart phone 
camera and scanning the code 
below:

12 February 2021

PART 1
1. Apologies for Absence 

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee 
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2. Other Interests

3. Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

4. Update Sheet 

5. Planning Applications (Pages 7 - 8)

6. Tree Preservation Order at Eton House and Carlisle House, Broad Walk, Buxton 
(295) (Pages 9 - 16)

7. HPK/2020/0064 Land off Trenchard Drive, Buxton - Application to vary planning 
condition 2 attached to Full Application Ref: HPK/2018/0315 (Pages 17 - 36)

8. HPK/2020/0047 Land adj to Sheffield Road, Chapel en le Frith - erection of two 
industrial units with associated off street parking and landscaping (Pages 37 - 56)

9. HPK/2020/0062 Buxworth Football Club - Retrospective advertisement consent for 
the retention of 17 x pitch perimeter hoarding signs (Pages 57 - 64)

10. HPK/2020/0437 Sweet Water Cottages, Longridge Lane, Peak Dale - erection of 
general purpose agricultural building (Pages 65 - 80)

11. HPK/2018/0092 1 Greggs Avenue, Chapel en le Frith - Single storey side extension 
to existing semi-detached property - retrospective (Pages 81 - 92)

12. HPK/2020/0508 27 Thomas Street, Glossop - Proposed ground floor rear extension 
to replace existing conservatory and a first floor side extension above existing 
garage ( to be rebuilt) (Pages 93 - 100)

Public Document Pack



MARK TRILLO
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER

Membership of Development Control Committee
Councillor R McKeown (Chair) Councillor D Lomax (Vice-Chair)
Councillor A Barrow Councillor L Dowson
Councillor C Farrell Councillor I Huddlestone
Councillor G Oakley Councillor J Perkins
Councillor P Roberts Councillor E Thrane
Councillor J Todd Councillor S Young



High Peak Borough Council

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Meeting: Monday, 18 January 2021 at 1.30 pm in Virtual Meeting

Present: Councillor R McKeown (Chair) 

Councillors A Barrow, L Dowson, C Farrell, I Huddlestone, D Lomax, 
A McKeown (substitute for J Todd), G Oakley, J Perkins, P Roberts, 
E Thrane and S Young

An apology for absence was received from Councillors J Todd

20/140 TO RECEIVE DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST ON ANY MATTERS BEFORE 
THE COMMITTEE
(Agenda Item 2)

Councillor Dowson declared an ‘other’ interest in agenda item 6, 
“HPK/2020/0201 Land off Buxton Road, Furness Vale” (reason: keeps a 
boat at Furness Vale Marina)

20/141 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENT

The Chair confirmed that the meeting was being broadcast live to the 
internet via the Council’s website and was capable of repeated viewing. The 
images and sound recording may be used for training purposes within the 
Council. All were asked to keep to the speaking guidelines which were 
outlined.  Any views expressed by any speaker in the meeting are the 
speaker’s own and do not necessarily reflect the views of High Peak 
Borough Council.

20/142 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 3)

It was requested that minute 20/138 be amended to include reference to the 
extreme concerns expressed by members regarding the extent of the 
retrospective consent sought for the unauthorised works undertaken by 
Pennine Aggregates Ltd.

RESOLVED:

That, subject to the above amendment, the minutes of the meeting held on 
14 December 2020 be approved as a correct record.

20/143 UPDATE SHEET
(Agenda Item 4)

RESOLVED:

That the update sheet be noted.
Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Development Control Committee
Monday, 18 January 2021

20/144 PLANNING APPLICATIONS
(Agenda Item 5)

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

20/145 HPK/2020/0201 AND HPK/2019/0275 LAND OFF BUXTON ROAD, 
FURNESS VALE
(Agenda Item 6)

HPK/2020/0201 Residential development (Class C3) with associated 
access, parking and landscaping comprising of 37 houses with a mix of 2 
and 3 bedroom accommodation for affordable housing provision

HPK/2019/0275 Retrospective application for the creation of temporary 
access from A6 (Buxton Road) and localised storing up on site for ground 
investigation vehicles

Applicant: Mr Chris Little

The Committee were addressed by Colin Leith (agent).

The Committee viewed plans, photographs and a video of the site.

RESOLVED:

1. That in respect of HPK/2020/0201, authority be delegated to the 
Head of Development Services, in consultation with the Chair of the 
Development Control Committee, to grant planning permission 
subject to:

a. Outstanding County Flood and Network Rail matters being 
resolved;

b. A S106 legal agreement securing 30% policy compliant 
affordable housing provision and £46,338.80 for play and 
formal sports provision;

c. The conditions as set out within the report;
d. condition to require the use of a more appropriate material 

than timber cladding, the details of which are to be submitted 
and approved by the LPA; samples of artificial stone shall be 
provided to the LPA for approval;

e. An additional condition to require the installation of an electric 
vehicle charging point at each property

f. A landscaping maintenance and management plan to include 
reference to long term management arrangements

g. Officers to ensure that conditions include tree protection.

2. That in respect of HPK/2019/275, the application be approved as set 
out in the report;

3. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
committee’s decisions (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) Page 4



Development Control Committee
Monday, 18 January 2021

prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Development Services 
be delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of 
Development Control Committee, provided that the changes do not 
exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

20/146 HPK/2020/0064 LAND OFF TRENCHARD DRIVE, BUXTON
(Agenda Item 7)

Application to vary planning condition 2 attached to Full Application Ref: 
HPK/2018/0315

Applicant: Persimmon Homes

The Committee were addressed by Marie Hutchinson and Councillor 
Grooby in objection to part of the application and Adele Jacques (applicant).

The committee viewed plans, photographs and videos of the site.

During the ensuing debate, members expressed concern regarding the 
difference in ground levels between plot 119 and no. 75 Burlow Road and 
the resulting impact on no. 75 Burlow Road.

RESOLVED:

That consideration of the application be deferred and it be requested that 
further negotiations be undertaken between the applicant, council and 
affected residents to resolve the issues concerning plots 118 and 119 of the 
site and no. 75 Burlow Road, with particular reference to the issue of the 
difference in ground levels between plot 119 and no 75 Burlow Road.

The meeting concluded at 3.00 pm

CHAIR

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Development Control Committee

22 February 2021

Appendices Attached - None

1.        Reason for the Report: To outline the Committee’s determination of 
planning applications

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the report be noted.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 Unless the Committee decide to waive their delegated power in respect of any 
application, the Committee’s determination of any application will operate as a 
final decision, unless:-

a. it is a major departure from Council Policy;

b. There are resource implications for the Borough Council which need to 
be considered by the Executive

3.2 The environmental, legal, financial and equal opportunities raised by each 
application are dealt with within each report.  There are no known Community 
Safety issues unless specified in the report.

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Background papers for all planning 
applications 

Town Hall, Buxton

TITLE: PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION BY 
COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Anthony McKeown

CONTACT OFFICER: Ben Haywood – Head of Development Services

WARDS INVOLVED: All

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

22nd February 2021 

TREE PRESERVATION ORDER AT Eton House and Carlisle House Broad 
Walk Buxton (295)

1. REASON

For the members to consider the objections raised to the above 
temporary Tree Preservation Order made in respect of 4 trees on  the 
boundary between Eton House and Carlisle House Broad Walk Buxton 
decide whether the order should be confirmed and made permanent.

2. SUMMARY

A TPO was made on 16th September 2020 in response to a 
Conservation Area notification of the intention to fell 2 trees (ref 2330). 
The reason given was they have been implicated in damage to Eton 
House 22 Broad Walk, Buxton.  The evidence provided to substantiate 
this claim was inconclusive and  does  not support the removal of the 
trees. Further information was requested but was not forth coming. 
Three objections to the order were received which are considered in 
this report.  

3. RECOMMENDED

i) The Committee confirms the Tree Preservation Order for 
reasons given at 5 (i) a-b  not withstanding the objections raised. 
The objectors and original applicants are advised  on the next 
course of action. 

4. BACKGROUND

i) The trees are located on the boundary between Eton House and 
Carlisle House on the Broad Walk.  They are mature trees  
within the Buxton Park Conservation Area and contribute to its 
landscape setting.  A Location  plan is  provided as supporting 
Document 1

ii) Damage to Flat 2 Eton House 22 Broad Walk  was reported to 
insurers in 2018. Investigations were undertaken including site 
investigations, a structural assessment and an arboricultural 
appraisal report. Copies of these reports and the original 
notification are available as supporting documents 2- 5

iii) The reports provided concluded that  the damage was due to 
subsidence damaged cause by moisture abstraction by nearby 
vegetation and recommendations were made to fell 2 trees (TPO 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



T1 and T2). Although some ambiguity in the report suggests that 
third tree is also recommended for removal. 

iv) An assessment of the submitted reports was made and the 
Notification was acknowledged.  The applicant, MWA 
Arboriculture Ltd was advised of the assessment and asked for 
additional information. Supporting Document 6

v) The main issues were that roots were identified below the 
foundations but not from the trees in question,  the soil  below 
the foundations was not desiccated. Other possible causes such 
as drains hadn’t been fully investigated.  The damage to the 
property is  classed as BRE 2  which is described as slight or 
very slight: and can be regarded as ‘aesthetic’ issues that 
require only redecoration.  

vi) No further communications or information was provided by the 
applicant.  Based  on the information provided  it was concluded  
that felling wasn’t  justified  so consideration was given to 
making a Tree Preservation Order. 

vii) An assessment of the trees and their amenity was made by the 
Arboricultural Officer in September 2020 (Supporting Document 
7) and using the Council’s procedure for making Tree 
Preservation Orders. It was concluded that it was appropriate to 
make a Tree Preservation Order in respect of the trees as It is 
expedient in the interests of amenity and the trees are under 
potential threat of harm or removal. It was considered 
appropriate to include  all the mature trees on the boundary for 
consistency

viii) The Tree Preservation Order was made on 16th September 2020 
and served on the owners of the trees and their agents 
(Supporting Document 8).

ix) 3 formal objections to the Order were received from the owners 
of 23 and 22 Broad Walk and one leaseholder Copies of these 
are attached as (Supporting Documents 9-11) . No objection 
was received from the original Applicant or their clients the 
insurance company

5. ISSUES AND OPTIONS

i) Reasons for making the order.

a. It is expedient in the interests of amenity
b. The trees are of high amenity 

Page 10



c. The trees are under threat of removal  

ii) Summary of objections raised by Julia Lisser Carlisle House 23 
BroadWalk 

a. Damage to Drains 
b. Damage to the property from the tree canopy 
c. Risk of injury 
d. Amenity 

iii) Summary of objections raised by M Grieg Eton House 22 Broad 
Walk 

a. The tree is inappropriate for the location 
b. Amenity and Impact on Residents enjoyment of the property 
c. Damage to Drains 
d. Risk 

iv) Summary of objections raised by Mark Bullock (Surveyor) on 
Behalf of Bootherstone Estate Company Ltd.

a. The trees have caused  damage  to drains abd the property 
b. Amenity 

v) Consideration of objections 

Damage to  the drains  
A report on the drains at 22 was provided (Supporting Document 
3). This confirmed that the drains were damaged and needed 
repair.  There was no mention of root ingress. 

Tree roots will proliferate in drains which are cracked but where 
drains are  in good repair they are much less likely to cause 
issues. 

Damage from the canopy of the trees and risk 
The TPO  does not prevent the management and pruning of the 
trees. Although an application would need to be made.  With 
these trees I consider that some management of the crowns 
could be undertaken to reduce the impact on the neighbouring 
properties, improve the situation for residents and limit risk  

Where a tree presents an immediate risk of serious harm and 
work is urgently needed to remove that risk, guidance states tree 
owners or their agents must give written notice to the authority 
as soon as practicable after that work becomes necessary. Work 
should only be carried out to the extent that it is necessary to 
remove the risk.

Page 11



Amenity 

Concern has been raised about whether the trees are suitable 
for the location.  The tree species Lime and sycamore are quite 
typical of planting in Buxton.   They are robust species which will 
respond well to pruning and management. Mature trees  both 
those in streets and parks as well as private dwellings help to 
define the character of Buxton. 

Subsidence damage 

With regards to the alleged subsidence damage.  To date this 
evidence provided is not conclusive that the trees in question are 
a contributory factor. Also the proposed removal of three trees 
seems excessive. 

If further information is submitted  that demonstrates that the 
trees are implicated we can consider the management options. 
The TPO does not prevent us at a latter date allow the removal 
or pruning of trees if this is justified. 

6. IMPLICATIONS

a) Resources

No significant implications. 

b) Legal, Human Rights Act, Equalities, Community Safety, 
Consultation

If the Tree Preservation Order is confirmed the owner can still 
apply to undertake works to the trees. If an application were 
refused they would then have a right appeal to the Planning 
Inspectorate against the Council’s decision. 

c) Environmental Issues and Risk Assessment

Trees, particularly mature trees, contribute to the environment 
not only in terms of visual amenity, but they also have broader 
environmental benefits such as storing carbon, mitigating 
pollution and storm water runoff. 
 
The risk from trees is generally very low and there were no 
defects in these that has elevated their risk beyond a tolerable 
level. 

7. HOW THIS LINKS TO CORPORTATE PRIORITIES

Using planning legislation to protect trees on private land contributes to 

Page 12



Corporate aim 4:  Protect and Improve the Environment

It is also in line with the Council’s tree policy 2.2.1 which states that 
‘The Tree Preservation Order system will be used to ensure that trees 
of high amenity which are under threat are protected.’

8. APPENDICES

1. Copy of the plan accompanying the Tree Preservation Order 
showing the location of the trees

9. WEB LINKS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS
 
Documents available for inspection 

Supporting Document 1 Plan showing the location of the trees
Supporting Document 2 Technical Report on a Subsidence Claim
Supporting Document 3 Site investigation report
Supporting Document 4 Arboricultural Appraisal Report
Supporting Document 5 Conservation Area Notification
Supporting Document 6 Notification Acknowledgement
Supporting Document 7 TPO assessment – September 2020
Supporting Document 8 Copy of the TPO order and plan
Supporting Document 9 Objection  - Lisser (Owner of T1, T2 and T3)
Supporting Document 10 Objection M Grieg 4 Eton House 
Supporting Document 11 Objection Bullock / Bootherstone Estate 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

T2 T3 
T4 

T1 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 22nd February 2021

Application 
No:

HPK/2020/0064

Location Land off Trenchard Drive, Buxton
Proposal Application to vary planning condition 2 attached to Full Application 

Ref: HPK/2018/0315
Applicant Persimmon Homes
Agent Persimmon Homes
Parish/ward Buxton Date registered 28/02/2020
If you have a question about this report please contact: Ben Haywood; email: 
ben.haywood@highpeak.gov.uk Tel: 01298 38400 Ext: 4924

REFERRAL

The application is referred to committee as it is a major development.  

The application was deferred at the January meeting of the Development Control 
Committee so that further negotiations could be undertaken between the applicant, 
council and affected residents to resolve the issues concerning plots 118 and 119 of 
the site and no. 75 Burlow Road, with particular reference to the issue of the 
difference in ground levels between plot 119 and no 75 Burlow Road.

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE, subject to S106 & conditions 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site extends to approximately 5.24 hectares (12.94 acres) and 
comprises a large previously developed site formerly the University of Derbyshire 
Harpur Hill Campus, which closed in 2009. All university buildings within the 
application site have since been demolished and the site is currently under 
redevelopment for residential purposes pursuant to planning permission 
HPK/2018/0315 which was granted in 2019. 

2.2 The application site lies north of Burlow Road and north of Trenchard Drive in 
Harpur Hill, approximately 3km south east of the centre of Buxton.  The surrounding 
area is predominantly residential with established residential development being 
located on three sides. 

2.3 The main former campus site is generally flat with some slight north to south 
undulation towards Burlow Road, and comprises a mixture of modified neutral 
grassland, mixed woodland, scattered trees, hardstanding and small buildings 
associated with its previous use. The site bounds Burlow Road to the south, its 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7

mailto:ben.haywood@highpeak.gov.uk


boundary being defined by established dry stone walls with grassed verges and 
mature trees. The northern boundary of the application site is bound by Trenchard 
Drive; the site boundary being demarcated by semi natural woodland comprising 
hawthorn hedgerows; a University of Derbyshire sports facility and associated car 
parking forms the remainder of the site’s northern boundary with existing housing 
being located to the north west. 

2.4 The site bounds the existing residential streets of Trenchard Drive and 
Kirkstone Road to the west. The eastern and south eastern site boundaries 
comprises mature mixed woodland of predominantly horse chestnut, silver birch, 
elder and hazel with dense scrub to the southernmost corner of the site. 

2.5 Land beyond the site’s eastern boundary is being developed for 275 dwellings 
(Ref: HPK/2017/0613).  Once this scheme is built, the application site will be bound 
on all sides by residential development. 

2.6  The land to the north of Trenchard Drive slopes southwards towards 
Trenchard Drive and is bound by existing homes to the east and west. The southern 
boundary is defined by Trenchard Drive. The northern boundary comprises 
agricultural style fencing with open fields beyond. A number of trees are located 
along its southern and eastern boundary. 

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 Full planning permission was granted in 2019 for the erection of 153 dwellings 
with associated access, public open space and landscaping. (HPK/2018/0315 refers) 
The 153 dwellings proposed will consist of a combination of 2 and 2.5 storey mews, 
semi-detached and detached properties; the mix is as follows: 

• 81 no. 2 bed houses; 
• 65 no. 3 bed houses; 
• 7 no. 4 bed houses 

16% of the total homes provided on site (24 homes) will be affordable. These 
affordable homes will be provided as Starter Homes. 

3.2 This application seeks to vary the approved plans condition. It is made to 
reflect minor material amendments to approved planning layout (HH.BUXT-SDA.01 
Rev P) and approved landscape masterplan (3069 101 Rev D) to ensure suitable 
replacement of trees to be removed and to increase the extent of additional 
replacement tree planting. These proposed minor amendments are made to reflect a 
meeting in November 2019 and subsequent discussions with the Council’s 
arboricultural officer, Monica Gillespie.

3.2 Furthermore, the original full planning permission, granted consent for the 
various house types and their siting, but subject to a condition which required details 
of site levels, including, finished floor elves, road levels, and other land / garden 
levels to be submitted and agreed in writing. These were submitted under a 
discharge of conditions application (ref: DOC/2019/0074 refers). Officers were 
generally satisfied with the levels across the site, with the exception of two locations 

Page 18



where local residents had expressed concerns about the raising of land levels and 
the elevated finished floor elves / access road levels relative to their properties which 
were already below the natural ground  level  of the site. 

3.3 Officers requested that the finished floor levels of the dwellings and roadways 
in this part of the site be reduced back to the existing ground levels of the site but 
unfortunately were advised by the applicant that for technical reasons related to 
drainage and highway adoption requirements this was not possible 

3.4 Following lengthy discussions with officers, local residents and ward 
councillors the developer has made minor amendments to the following plots: 

• Plot 39 changed to a Warwick house type and removal of detached garage and 
turning head associated with the private drive. 

• Plot 143 has been changed to a Thirlmere house type, bringing this plot away 
from the boundary to provide for more opportunities for landscaping 

3.5 These changes are intended to reduce the impact of the raised ground levels 
on neighbouring dwellings by introducing smaller house types and moving the built 
development further away from the boundaries with the affected properties. This also 
provides the opportunity for improved boundary treatment and screen planting / 
landscaping. All associated landscaping and external works drawings have been 
updated to reflect these changes. These include up-to-date proposed levels 
information which has also been submitted with this application.

3.6 Following deferral by the Committee further amended plans have been 
received. To summarise the changes: 

 Plot 119 and 118 amended to bungalow semi’s (Heartwood bungalow). The 
bungalows sit on the same foundations and at the same FFL as previously 
proposed. The developer cannot reduce the FFL of these plots as drainage 
wouldn’t be achievable. The ridge heights have been reduced significantly. A 
drawing has been provided showing the comparison of the height of the 
Stafford v’s the now proposed Heartwood. 

 Plot 77 amended to a larger Warwick in order to recoup lost sq ft. 
 Plot 70 and 62 amended in order to recoup lost sq ft. Persimmon have 

replaced these plots with a 2.5 storey house type (the Earlswood)
 Plot 39 also a Warwick as per the previous application considered by 

committee 
 Plot 143 remains as per the last revision

 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The site’s planning history largely relates to its previous use as a College 
Campus. A planning application was submitted by Barratt Homes (Manchester) in 
January 2007 seeking consent for 232 new houses and apartments with associated 
roads and open space. (HPK/2007/0058 refers) However the application was 
withdrawn in July 2010. 

Page 19



4.2 Full planning permission for the erection of 153 dwellings with associated 
access, public open space and landscaping was granted on 3rd July 2019. 
(HPK/2018/0315 refers)

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan 2016

Policy S1 Sustainable Development Principles
Policy S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy S2 Settlement Hierarchy
Policy S3 Strategic Housing Development
Policy S5 Glossopdale Sub-area Strategy
Policy EQ1 Climate Change
Policy EQ2 Landscape Character
Policy EQ5 Biodiversity
Policy EQ6 Design and Place Making
Policy EQ7 Built and Historic Environment
Policy EQ9 Trees, Woodlands and hedgerows
Policy EQ10 Pollution Control and Unstable Land
Policy EQ11 Flood Risk Management
Policy H1 Location of Housing Development
Policy H3 New Housing Allocations
Policy H4 Affordable Housing
Policy CF3 Local Infrastructure Provision
Policy CF4 Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities
Policy CF5 Provision and Retention of Local Community Facilities
Policy CF6 Accessibility and Transport
Policy CF7 Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy

Supplementary Planning Guidance

 Residential Design
 Landscape Character
 Housing Needs Survey
 Planning Obligations

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2012

Achieving Sustainable Development
Section 4 Promoting sustainable transport
Section 6 Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes
Section 7 Requiring good design
Section 8 Promoting healthy communities
Section 10 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 11 Conservation and enhancing the Natural environment
Section 12 Conserving and enhancing the Historic Environment

Page 20



6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

End of Consultation Period 24th December 2020

Consultee Comment Officer response 

Arboricultural Officer No objection

1. Landscaping scheme

1. Background 

1.1     Application to vary condition 2 of HPK/2018/0315 to amend the approved 
planning layout.

1.2     The proposed changes include the removal of some additional trees and 
amendments to the planting and landscaping scheme. 

2. Changes to original proposal

2.1     6 Trees in Plots 41 to 48 along Trenchard Drive which cannot be retained as 
shown on the previously approved planning layout were to be retained are 
now to be removed.  

2.2     One hawthorn tree is not covered by the TPO and 2 ash trees have 
dieback disease and are now not considered appropriate for retention. The 
other trees which are maples would be desirable to retain but we have 
explored options for this with the Arboricultural consultants and no feasible 
solution has been found.  

2.3     Replacement planting for these trees is included in the landscaping. 

2.4     It has also proved unfeasible to retain the cherries at rear or plots 45/66/65, 
part of G19 and T15 in Plot 52

2.5     There is a minor revision of the turning head away from plots 118 and 119 to 
reduce impact on retained tree. This is a positive improvement. 

Page 21



2.6   There is a discrepancy between the master plan layout and the Arboricultural 
Method Statement (AMS) with regards to the retention of trees  at the rear of  
plots 147, 152-153.   The AMS shows the retention of these trees and a 
method for constructing the retaining wall but the master layout shows 2 of the 
trees to be removed. There needs to be consistency between these 
documents given that the AMS shows the trees can be retained. I  consider 
that it should be conditioned that  all tree works including tree removal is in 
accordance with the AMS 

2.7   Removal of the small turning head outside plot 143 which is no longer required 
and will reduce encroachment onto retained trees. Again, this is an 
improvement.

2.8     There are some changes to the landscaping to accommodate  replacement 
planting for the additional tree removal.  These changes are acceptable. 

Consideration of Objections

The council has received a number of comments /objections to the planting 
scheme.

Some of these are quite detailed I have addressed the key concerns below:

1. General concern about additional tree loss. Whilst this is regrettable some

additional removal of trees due to constraints on the site and other overriding

issues mean this is unavoidable.

2. The   proposed scheme includes the planting of 192 standard trees and 773 
native trees and shrubs  planted as whips  or hedgerow a total of 965 trees ; this is 
adequate to comply  with the council’s Local plan  policy EQ9 for 2:1 replacement 
planting. 

3. There is concern that the species are not suitable for the area as they are not

hardy enough and they are not appropriate species to replace those that have

been removed.

a) Hardiness - Most the tree species have a hardiness rating of at least H6 -

Hardy throughout the UK and Northern Europe, therefore suitable for Buxton.

The exception is the Judas tree - Cercis. siliquastrum this has a hardiness rating of 
H5 described as Hardy through most of the UK but may not with stand open and 
exposed sites in central or northerly locations. So this tree can survive but not 
thrive on the site, it has the potential to succumb to harsher winters so only has a 

Page 22



limited long term potential. Several of these trees are selected for planting. I 
suggest that whilst it is good to provide some diversity in species in this case given 
the exposed nature of the site it would be prudent to replace this with an alternative 
species to ensure that the scheme is sustainable.

b) Hedging – the objector requested for more diverse hedging. The hedging type 
varies across the site with hornbeam, privet and laurel in different areas and some 
native hedge planting in selected areas. I am satisfied this provides some diversity 
but the addition of alternate hedging types would be welcome, particularly the 
replacement of some of the laurel hedging with beech. Laurel has the advantage of 
being quick to grow but can quickly become unmanageable.

DCC Flood Risk 
Management

22 Dec 2020:

The LLFA has concerns about the proposed planting plan shown on drawing 
Detailed Planing Plan – Overall Plan, D7961.002E: it appears that tree planting is 
proposed over potential locations of underground surface water attenuation tanks, 
according to drawing Drainage Layout, ELL-W-18054-PNW-5000 Revision E, which 
would be used if infiltration is shown not to be feasible. Long term the tree roots 
could damage the attenuation tanks. The applicant should demonstrate how such 
damage would be avoided.

2 April 2020:

I have reviewed this application and due to it being an alteration in site layout that 
does not impact flood risk or drainage the LLFA does not have any comment to 
make.

Derbyshire Wildlife Trust No objection

We have reviewed the details for the above application and do not consider it 
significantly changes any of the wider ecological considerations for the site. We do 
note the proposed increase in replacement trees and consider that this is likely to 
be beneficial for biodiversity in the longer term.

Environmental Health No comment

I can confirm that High Peak Borough Council, Environmental Health have no 
observations to make concerning this application.
Severn Trent Water Condition recommended 

Condition
The development hereby permitted shall not commence until drainage plans for the 
disposal of surface water and foul sewage have been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details before the development is first brought into use. Due to 

Page 23



the size of this development a sewer modelling study may be required to determine 
the impact this development will have on the existing system and if flows can be 
accommodated. Severn Trent may need to undertake a more comprehensive study 
of the catchment to determine if capital improvements are required. If Severn Trent 
needs to undertake capital improvements, a reasonable amount of time will need to 
be determined to allow these works to be completed before any additional flows are 
connected. 

Planning Practice Guidance and section H of the Building Regulations 2010 detail 
surface water disposal hierarchy. The disposal of surface water by means of 
soakaways should be considered as the primary method. If this is not practical and 
there is no watercourse is available as an alternative other sustainable methods 
should also be explored. If these are found unsuitable, satisfactory evidence will 
need to be submitted, before a discharge to the public sewerage system is 
considered.

Reason
To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage 
as well as reduce the risk of creating or exacerbating a flooding problem and to 
minimise the risk of pollution. 

Suggested Informative
Severn Trent Water advise that although our statutory sewer records do not show 
any public sewers within the area you have specified, there may be sewers that 
have been recently adopted under The Transfer Of Sewer Regulations 2011. 
Public sewers have statutory protection and may not be built close to, directly over 
or be diverted without consent and you are advised to contact Severn Trent Water 
to discuss your proposals. Severn Trent will seek to assist you obtaining a solution 
which protects both the public sewer and the building. 
AES Waste No objection

We have looked at the planning proposal and there are no waste issues.

Third Party Representations

Neither (3)

 Long-term maintenance plan needed
 Mature trees loss cannot be easily compensated for
 Turning area and footpath positioned poorly, will be detrimental to existing 

resident amenity
 Better boundary needed
 Will there be funding attached to this for buses?

Objections (14)

Page 24



 Turning area built without approval
 Tree removal will worsen drainage problems
 Agreed boundaries are not being respected on new plans
 Agreement that trees will not be removed is not being respected on new plans
 Boundary distances are not those agreed
 Ground levels have been raised without permission
 Raised ground levels will impact privacy
 Damage to wildlife – hedgehogs present in gardens – mature trees removal 

damages habitat
 Proposed deciduous tree planting will not provide winter privacy screening
 Object to tree replacement with non native species
 The developer would always have been aware of tree locations – why change 

now?
 Trees help ground stability on steep slope as well as shelter in an exposed 

location 
 Developers should work with the landscape not against it
 Replacement trees/shrubs are species that may not survive
 No care plan for trees
 Discrepancies on numbers of plots across plans
 New trees may absorb less carbon – against climate change policies
 The existing trees are part of the established skyline
 The trees should have TPOs for the duration of works
 The selection of tree species will make the estate feel separate from the rest 

of Harpur Hill
 We Oppose The Building Of Plot 119 & 143 For The Following Reasons:

1.Overshadowing and Loss of light
2.Loss of privacy
3.Overpowering our property as the pads for both plot 119 & 143 are 
substantially higher than our own.
4.Combination of close proximity and the overall height.
5.Driveway (Plot 143) higher than our boundary fence - headlights shining 
straight into lounge and kitchen windows.
6. Persimmon adding a boundary fence where there is not one detailed on the 
outline planning (raised with enforcement 27/11/20).

 The occupant of no.75 Burlow Rd has commissioned an architect to draw up 
a model showing plot 119 and how this will look and affect them with 
overshadowing etc. The image can be viewed with the other representations 
on the Council website at

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKI
D=238050

 Re the application to vary condition 2 of HPK/2018/0315 approved planning 
layout notified by letter dated 02/02/2021. I object to the trees that will be  
placed bordering the bottom of Hillside as they will potentially restrict access 
to my driveway as they grow.

Page 25

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=238050
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=238050


5. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

Planning policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application should be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to be 
read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the Local Planning Authority to determine planning 
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are material 
considerations which 'indicate otherwise'.  Section 70(2) provides that in determining 
applications the Adopted Local planning authority "shall have regard to the 
provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application and to any 
other material considerations".  The Development Plan currently consists of the 
Adopted High Peak Local Plan April 2016.

7.3 The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is considered to be 
a mandatory material consideration in decision making.  The applicable contents of 
the revised Framework will be referenced within the relevant sections of the officer 
report as detailed below.

7.4 Once again achieving sustainable development sits at the heart of the 
Framework as referred to within paragraphs 10 and 11.  As before, achieving 
sustainable development requires the consideration of three overarching and 
mutually dependant objectives being: economic, social and environmental where 
they are to be applied to local circumstances of character, need and opportunity as 
follows:  

a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the 
right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved 
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure; 

b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to 
meet the needs of the present and future generations; and by fostering a well 
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open 
spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ health, 
social and cultural well being; and, 

c) an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment; including making the effective use of 
land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, 
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate 
change, including moving to a low carbon economy.

7.5 Paragraph 11 of the Framework requires decision makers to apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For decision makers this means 

Page 26



approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay.

7.6 Section 5 of the Framework relates to delivering a sufficient supply of homes. 
Paragraph 59 identifies that to support the Government’s objective of significantly 
boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of 
land can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific 
housing requirements are addressed and that land with permission is developed 
without unnecessary delay.

7.7 Adopted LP (Local Plan) Policy S1a establishes a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as contained within the Framework.

Principle of development / Main issues

7.8 The site already benefits from full planning permission for the erection of 153 
dwellings with associated access, public open space and landscaping which is 
currently being implemented (HPK/2018/0315 refers). As a result, this application 
does not represent an opportunity to reconsider the suitability in principle of this site 
for residential development. Furthermore, the previous consent included approval for 
the siting and design of the dwellings on Plot 143 and Plot 39 and the detached 
garage and turning head associated with the latter, (subject to subsequent approval 
of levels). Consequently, this application does not represent an opportunity to 
reconsider the suitability in principle of dwellings on those plots. 

7.9 The main issues for consideration by the committee are firstly whether the 
proposed amendments to the housetypes on Plots 143 and 39 and the deletion of 
the turning head and garage are acceptable and/or preferrable to the approved 
position, having regard to existing and proposed site levels and the relationship with 
neighbouring properties. Secondly, the Committee must consider whether the 
proposed amendments to the approved landscaping scheme are acceptable. This 
report will address each matter in turn. 

Plot 143

7.10 Plot 143 has been changed to a Thirlmere house type, bringing this plot away 
from the boundary to provide for more opportunities for landscaping. It stands 
immediately to the north east of no.75 Burlow Road, the only existing property 
affected by this part of the development. The rear principal elevation of no.75 faces 
north towards this plot and it's main private amenity space is also located at the rear 
adjacent to the boundary with Plot 143. No. 75 Burlow Road, is at a significantly 
lower ground level such that the boundaries to the side and rear are formed by 
retaining walls such that the natural ground level of the construction site at the 
boundary is approximately level with the top of the ground floor windows. 

7.11 Naturally, the ground slopes upwards away from this point in a northerly 
direction. The ground levels on this part of the site have also been further raised by 
over 2m including the provision of a 1350mm retaining wall alongside the driveway to 
plot 143 such that the finished floor level of plot 143 will be 371.05 compared to 
368.35 at the boundary. 

Page 27



7.12 The High Peak Residential Design Guide states;

As a guide a distance of 21 metres between habitable room windows of 
adjacent properties will provide an acceptable level of amenity. Where 
changes in levels on site are evident or where taller buildings are present, 
these distances should increase by 1 metre for every 0.5 metre difference in 
height between the smaller to the taller building. Strict application of these 
standards can however restrict a creative response to site layout and frustrate 
designers; the Council is therefore open to applicants with a more flexible 
approach based upon design principles rather than standards

The Guide does not contain a minimum distance between a principal elevation of a 
dwelling and the gable elevation of another dwelling, although c.13m is generally 
regarded to be appropriate in these circumstances, assuming a level site. 

7.13 In this case, originally, a separation distance of c.15.8m (at the closest point) 
was achieved between the rear of no.75 and the gable of the “Kendal” house type 
proposed on Plot 143. This was deemed acceptable at the time having regard to the 
rising ground natural level but also, the fact that the gable was not directly opposing 
the rear of no.75, being considerably off-set to the north east. To compensate for the 
further increase in ground levels the developer has proposed to substitute a 
Thirlmere on this plot, which has a narrower footprint and as a result the gable would 
now be c.17.05m from the rear of no.75 at the closest point, increasing to 21m at the 
furthest point. Whilst this does not allow for an additional 1 metre separation for 
every 0.5 metre difference in height, it should be noted that the standard relates to 
directly opposing principal elevations, rather than a principal and flank elevation as is 
the case here, where the two elevations are also off-set. Furthermore, as Plot 143 is 
located immediately to the north east of no.75 it will not result in any direct 
overshadowing of the existing dwelling or its garden at any point during the day.

7.14 Also by moving the house and its associated driveway further from the 
boundary, there is greater scope for the inclusion of landscaping on the batter slope 
between the edge of the driveway to plot 143 and the boundary with no.75. A 1m 
closed boarded fence is to be provided and can be secured by condition on top of 
the retaining wall forming the edge to this driveway in order to prevent disturbance to 
no.75 from car headlights when manoeuvring in this area. The proposal is also 
considered to be preferrable to the fall-back position of the Kendal house type which 
was approved, albeit subject to agreement of levels. 

7.15 The new Plot 143 will continue to maintain an adequate relationship with the 
other new dwellings in the development. The separation to plot 120 to the rear will be 
as per the approved scheme and the separation to the rear of plots 119 and 118 to 
the south will also be marginally improved as a result of the changes. Accordingly, 
the amendment is deemed to be acceptable in amenity terms and in compliance with 
Policy EQ6 in this respect. 

7.16 In terms of design and street scene, the Thirlmere is a house type approved 
elsewhere on the development so will appear in keeping with the character and 
appearance of the area in accordance with Policy EQ6. 

Page 28



Plot 39
 

7.17 Plot 39 has been changed to a Warwick house type and the detached garage 
and turning head associated with the private drive in front of it have been removed. It 
stands immediately to the north-east of 27-31 Kirkstone Road, the only existing 
properties affected by this part of the development. 

7.18 The rear principal elevation of these dwellings face towards the front 
elevations of plot 39 to 36. These plots are served by a private drive and the 
approved plans for plot 39 shows a detached double garage in front of it at the end 
of the private drive, which also incorporates a turning head, immediately beyond 
no31 Kirkstone Road. A pedestrian footpath runs through a landscaped area 
between the rear boundary of the properties in Kirkstone Rd and the new 
development from the turning head at the end of Teddar Avenue. Again, the natural 
ground levels rise from the boundary with the dwellings in Kirkstone Rd into the 
application site and here too further raising of land levels has taken place. 

7.19 The occupant of 31 Kirkstone Rd raised concerns, shared by officers, that this 
raising of land levels, combined with the fact that the rear boundary to their property 
comprises a low dry stone wall would result in overlooking and loss of privacy from 
pedestrians walking along the private driveway or using the footpath link and that 
further loss of amenity would occur as a result of headlights from cars using the 
turning head shining into the rear windows of their property. 

7.20 The developer has sought to rectify this problem by removing the turning head 
and the double garage and change the house type on Plot 39. This has obviously 
eliminated entirely the problem of car headlights and has reduced any potential 
overlooking from the private drive by moving the closest point at which users of the 
drive can stand further away. It has also allowed the footpath link to be moved away 
from the rear boundary of the neighbouring houses to allow for landscaping to be 
provided in between. The developer has also offered to provide a 2m closed boarded 
fence along the rear boundary of no.31. 

7.21 It is considered that these improvements will address the amenity concerns in 
this area arising from the raised ground levels and again represent an improvement 
over the previously approved fall-back position. The Warwick house type has also 
been used elsewhere on the development and will appear in keeping with the 
character and appearance of the area. The changes are therefore considered to be 
in accordance with Policy EQ6. 

Landscaping and Trees

7.22 The application also seeks to make amendments to the approved landscaping 
plans, including removal of trees which were previously shown for retention, 
including tress which are the subject of a Tree Preservation Order. The Councils 
Arboricultural Officer has carefully considered the tree removal and whilst regrettable 
has acknowledged that several the specimens cannot reasonably be retained whilst 

Page 29



implementing the development. Others are either not covered by the TPO or are 
suffering from Ash Die Back disease. 

7.23 A significant amount of replacement planting comprising 192 standard trees 
and 773 native trees and shrubs planted as whips  or hedgerow, amounting to a total 
of 965 trees/shrubs is shown on the submitted revised landscaping plan. This plan 
has been subject to ongoing discussion with the Arboricultural Officer whilst the 
application has been under consideration with the Council and she has confirmed 
that this is adequate to comply with the council’s Local plan policy EQ9 for 2:1 
replacement planting. 

7.24 A number of other changes are proposed to the landscaping scheme to 
accommodate the plot substitutions discussed above. The Arboricultural Officer has 
commented that these are to be welcomed as they will create additional 
opportunities for landscaping and planting. The removal of the turning head will 
reduce the encroachment of development towards retained trees, which is again a 
positive change. 

7.25 The additional tree removal has resulted in objection from nearby residents, 
some of which are lengthy and comprehensive. The Arboricultural Officer has 
addressed the points raised in her comments above and having considered these 
carefully they do not change her assessment. On this basis and in the absence of 
any objection from the Arboricultural Officer it is not considered that a refusal on 
trees and landscape grounds could be sustained.

7.26 She has commented that the Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) will 
need to be updated to reflect the changes to the landscaping as shown on the site 
layout plan but this can be secured by condition. 

Other matters

7.27 The occupier of no.75 Burlow Road, has also expressed concerns about the 
raising of land levels and the finished floor level of plot 119 to the east of his 
property. In particular, he is concerned about the overbearing impact of the dwelling 
itself when viewed from his garden and from the window in the east gable of his 
property as well as overlooking from the end of the private drive serving these plots. 
These concerns were shared by officers considering the submitted levels details. 

7.28 As noted above it was not possible to secure any significant reduction in the 
finished floor level of Plot 119 for engineering reasons. However, changes have 
been made to the external ground levels and layout, including shortening the private 
drive serving this plot and altering the turning head in order to reduce the extent of 
the land raising adjacent to the boundary of no.75 and to allow a batter slope to be 
created from the end of the private drive to natural ground level at the boundary. This 
will reduce the potential for overlooking and amenity impacts from vehicles 
manoeuvring at the end of this driveway. Changes to the garden levels of plot 119 
have also been put forward in order to remove retaining walls and reduce fill 
adjacent to the boundary of plot 119. 

Page 30



7.29 The developer also considered substituting the house type on plot 119 for a 
narrower dwelling, as they have done on plots 143 and 39 to move the two-storey 
gable further from no.75. However, the developer has argued that this would have 
required additional piling to take place adjacent to no.75 which has been a further 
source of concern for the occupant and would not have overcome his amenity 
concerns and for that reason, the house type and siting have been retained as per 
the approved plan. The occupant of no.75, however, has commented that he has no 
objection to additional piling provided that it is correctly carried out in accordance 
with good practice and proper procedures. 

7.30 The separation between the gables of no.75 and plot 119 is between 4m and 
7m. However, it should be noted that the Council’s Supplementary Planning 
Document does not include a minimum separation between two flank elevations. For 
these reasons the siting of plot 119 was deemed to be acceptable, subject to 
approval of levels, when the original planning permission was granted and this s73 
application as submitted did not represent an opportunity to revisit the siting or 
housetype on these plots. The only matter for consideration was the levels / external 
works in respect of this plot.

7.31 Notwithstanding this Members at their previous meeting in January expressed 
concerns regarding the relationship between the 2 storey approved house type on 
Plot 119 and no.75, given the increase in ground levels now proposed and which 
have already been undertaken. Members requested that officers reopen negotiation 
with the developer on this point. 

7.32 The developer has responded by reiterating that for technical reasons it is not 
possible to reduce the finished floor levels of plot 119 (and it’s adjoining semi plot 
118) but instead have submitted amended plans substituting a pair of semi-detached 
bungalows on these plots. Therefore, whilst the floor levels will be un-altered the 
overall heights of the dwellings will be significantly less than the approved two-storey 
dwellings, even if those had been constructed at natural ground level. It is 
considered that the scheme as now proposed will now have negligible impact on the 
amenity of no.75 and represents a significant improvement over the position as 
approved.  Having regard to the various points set out above the submitted levels, 
and house types as amended, are now considered to be acceptable in this area. No 
further comments had been received from the occupant of no.75 at the time of report 
preparation. 

7.33 In order to compensate for the lost floorspace on plots 118 and 119, Plot 77 
has been amended to a larger Warwick housetype. This type is used elsewhere on 
the development (including Plot 39 – see above) and is found to be acceptable.  
Plots 70 and 62 have been amended amended to an Earlswood. These are a 2.5 
storey type with rear facing dormers. Both plots are inside the site and the changes 
do not affect any pre-existing residential properties. One of these plots backs on to 
the former sports centre, and the other backs onto the new dwellings fronting on to 
Trenchard Drive. The separation distance between the rear elevation and the new 
property immediately behind (plot 48) is c.24.5m which exceeds the Council’s 21m 
standard, and the separation to the 2 dwellings to either side is c.21 but taking into 
account that the rear elevations of these plots are not directly opposing, even given 

Page 31



the 3 storey nature of the Earlswood housetype, this relationship is considered to be 
acceptable. 

7.34 Members will have noted in the Committee report that the LLFA have raised 
concerns regarding the position of some of the proposed planting is proposed over 
potential locations of underground surface water attenuation tanks, which would be 
used if infiltration is shown not to be feasible. Long term the tree roots could damage 
the attenuation tanks. 

7.35 The applicant has responded stating that it appears that the LLFA are looking at 
the wrong drawing and not the latest drainage design. The RSK design was 
submitted as part of the original discharge of planning condition application (albeit an 
earlier revision). Any planting around the now proposed soakaway manholes is 
shown as wildflower mix on the latest landscape designs submitted which would be 
shallow rooted and have little to no impact on the drainage. The updated drawing 
has been forwarded to the LLFA for comment. 

7.36 An additional objection has been received relating to concerns that newly 
planted trees may obstruct driveway access to neighbouring dwellings. However, this 
is considered to be a private civil matter between the landowners. 

8. PLANNING BALANCE & CONCLUSION

8.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to be read in 
conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

8.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine planning 
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are material 
circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2) provides that in determining 
applications the local planning authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the 
Development Plan, so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan currently consists of the High Peak Local 
Plan 2016.

8.3 The site already benefits from full planning permission for the erection of 153 
dwellings with associated access, public open space and landscaping which is 
currently being implemented (HPK/2018/0315 refers). As a result this application 
does not represent an opportunity to reconsider the suitability in principle of this site 
for residential development. Furthermore, the previous consent included approval for 
the siting and design of the dwellings on Plot 143 and Plot 39 and the detached 
garage and turning head associated with the latter, (subject to subsequent approval 
of levels). Consequently, it does not represent an opportunity to reconsider the 
suitability in principle of dwellings on those plots. 

8.4 The proposed substitution of house type on Plot 143, will effectively result in 
the 2 storey gable of this property and driveway being moved further away from the 
rear of 75 Burlow Road. Notwithstanding the increase in ground level and finished 
floor level on this plot, and the existing natural topography, which is significantly 
higher than no.75, this is deemed to be an acceptable relationship and an 

Page 32



improvement over the previously approved layout. This conclusion is reached having 
regard to the fact that i) the Council’s  Residential Design Guide does not provide a 
minimum separation in such circumstances, ii) the generally accepted separation of 
13m would be exceeded, iii) the two elevations are not directly opposing thus 
compensating for the significant difference in ground levels. 

8.5 The proposed change to the house type on plot 39, removal of garage and 
turning head will result in a significant improvement to the amenity of properties in 
Kirkstone Road, over and above the approved scheme, notwithstanding the 
increased ground levels now proposed, given that the pedestrian roue will be further 
away, there will be more space for landscaping, less potential for overlooking and 
loss of amenity resulting from manoeuvring vehicles. 

8.6 With regard to the landscaping scheme, the proposal will result in the removal of 
a number of additional trees, some of which are protected. However, significant 
replacement planting is proposed and whilst the additional tree loss is regrettable, in 
the absence of any objection from the Arboricultural Officer it is not considered that a 
refusal on these grounds could be sustained. Other minor changes to the 
landscaping are proposed to reflect the plot substitution referred to above, which are 
considered by the Arboricultural Officer to be beneficial in landscape terms. 

8.7 Concern has been raised by the occupier of no.75 with regard to the raising of 
the finished floor level and surrounding ground levels of plot 119, which is in very 
close proximity to their property. However, following amendments to the site layout in 
terms of reducing the length of the private driveway and turning head serving those 
plots and associated reduction in fill and relocation of retaining walls away from the 
neighbouring property, this relationship and the submitted ground levels details were 
considered to be acceptable by Officers. Members, however, continued to have 
concerns regarding the relationship between Plot 119 and no.75, and deferred the 
application for further negotiations. 

8.8 The developer has responded by reiterating that for technical reasons it is not 
possible to reduce the finished floor levels of plot 119 (and it’s adjoining semi plot 
118) but instead have submitted amended plans substituting a pair of demi-detached 
bungalows on these plots. Therefore, whilst the floor levels will be un-altered the 
overall heights of the dwellings will be significantly less than the approved two-storey 
dwellings, even if those had been constructed at natural ground level. It is 
considered that the scheme as now proposed will now have negligible impact on the 
amenity of no.75 and represents a significant improvement over the position as 
approved.  To recoup the lost floor space, house types have also been amended on 
plots 70, 62 and 77, all of which are found to be acceptable for the reasons set out 
above. Having regard to the various points set out above the submitted levels, and 
house types as amended, are now considered to be acceptable in this area.

8.9 For the reasons detailed above it is concluded that the amended plans, are 
acceptable in terms of the impact on the amenity in accordance with the relevant 
local plan policies including Policy EQ6 (Design and Place Making ) and the relevant 
sections of the NPPF which deal with design and amenity considerations. In the 
absence of any other material considerations to indicate otherwise and having due 
regard to all other matters raised, it is recommended that the committee resolve to 

Page 33



approve the variation to the approved plans condition including the changes of house 
type on plots 143 and 39, amended landscaping and submitted ground levels. 

    9. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. It is recommended subject to the LLFA confirming that they have no 
objection to the revised landscaping / drainage plans approval be 
GRANTED, and subject to the same conditions as previously with the 
following changes / amendments:

1. Amendment to condition 2 to reflect the changes to the approved list of 
plans 

2. Conditions which have been previously discharged to be positively 
worded to require compliance with previously approved details / plans

3. Submission, approval and implementation of updated arboricultural 
method statement

4. Provision of 1m closed boarded fence to the edge of driveway to plot 
143 and provision of 2m closed boarded fence on the boundary with 31 
Kirkstone Road. 

5. Compliance with the approved level plans. 

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes 
do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

Site Plan

Page 34



Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



1

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 22nd February 2021  

Application No: HPK/2020/0047
Location Land adj to Sheffield Road, Chapel-en-le-Frith
Proposal Erection of two industrial units with associated off-street 

parking and landscaping
Applicant Natural Stone Surfaces Ltd
Agent Richard Mundy Building Design Ltd
Parish/ward Chapel / Chapel East Date registered 24th Feb 2020
If you have a question about this report please contact: James Stannard, 
Tel. 01298 28400 extension 4298, james.stannard@highpeak.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve with Conditions

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

1.1 This application has been brought before the Development Control
Committee due to the concerns raised by local residents. 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The site relates to land to the north of Sheffield Road, which is owned 
and operated by Natural Stone Surfaces Ltd, a company which 
processes and produces bespoke granite, marble, quartz and other 
semi-precious stonework surfaces. 

2.2 The site consists of an area of hard standing which is currently used for 
outside storage of stone products. It lies northwards of the existing 
depot and yard area operated by the applicant and is designated as a 
Primary Employment Zone within the Local plan. 

2.3 The site lies within the built-up area boundary of Chapel-en-le-Frith and 
also situated partly within the Town End Conservation Area. An 
existing Public Right of Way also crosses the site at its mid-point in an 
east-west direction.

2.4 The site is bounded to the west by a tree belt beyond which are a 
number of residential properties some 60m from the western boundary 
of the site. To the north east of the stie are allotment gardens, whilst 
the southern boundary of the wider site adjoins Sheffield Road.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

Page 37

Agenda Item 8



2

3.1 The application as originally submitted sought consent for a single 
industrial unit with associated car parking provision that spanned a 
length of 60.0m and 14.5m and a ridge height of 6.75m.

 
3.2 Following the consultation period and concerns identified by Officers, 

the applicant submitted revised plans and agreed to a change to the 
description of development. As such, the application seeks consent for 
two industrial units (B2 Use) with associated car parking and 
landscaping and has been subject to a full statutory and public re-
consultation process.

3.3 The two buildings would be positioned toward the eastern side of the 
site with a parking area containing 17 spaces located to the north. To 
the south, a further parking for 17 vehicles and turning area would be 
provided. Access into the site would via the existing yard to the south 
from Sheffield Road. 

3.4 The plans that are the subject of assessment and recommendation 
within this report are as follows:

- Location Plan (Ref:1890-CH-1250-B)
- Block Plan (Ref: 1890-CH-500-D)
- Site Plan (Ref: 1890-CH-100-D)
- Floor Plans (Ref: 1890-CH-101-D)
- Landscape Planting (Ref: CLDL-2392-01)
- Planting Scheme (Ref: CLDL-2392-02-P02)

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The site has been subject to the following planning history:

HPK/0002/5598 Extension to existing repair shop to allow doors to be 
closed when working on long vehicles (Approved 
23/07/1987)

HPK/2006/0704 Demolition of toilet block and construction of link corridor 
(Approved 14/11/2006)

HPK/2012/0176 Proposed residential development of 53 dwellings 
(Withdrawn 24/07/2012)

HPK/2013/0225 Proposed residential development (Refused 08/08/2013)

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood Plan 2015

EP1 Design of Employment Sites
EP2 Existing Employment Sites

Page 38



3

EP3 New Employment Development Sites
EP5 Site Specific Requirements for Allocated Employment Land

(Site ES1: Former Longson’s Transport Yard)

High Peak local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Settlement Hierarchy
S4 Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base
S6 Central Sub-area Strategy
EQ6 Design and Place Making
EQ7 Built and Historic Environment
EQ8 Green Infrastructure
EQ9 Trees Woodland and Hedgerows
EQ10 Pollution Control and Unstable Land
E1 New Employment Development
E3 Primary Employment Zones
CF6 Accessibility and Transport

Revised National Planning Policy Framework 2019

Achieving Sustainable Development Chapter 2
Building a Strong Competitive Economy Chapter 6
Promoting Sustainable Transport Chapter 9
Achieving Well Designed Places Chapter 12
Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment Chapter 15
Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment Chapter 16

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 27th March 2020
Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments: 17th March 2020
Neighbour Re-Consultation Expiry date for comments: 2nd July 2020
Press Notice Expiry date for comments: 27th March 2020

Neighbours

6.1 The original application for a single industrial building attracted 4 x 
letters of objection from members of the public which centred on the 
following grounds:

- Landscape and Visual Impacts
- Noise and Light Pollution
- Loss of Privacy
- Ecological Impacts
- Traffic impacts
- Flooding

Page 39



4

6.2 Following a change to the description of development, a full 21 day 
statutory and public re-consultation period was undetaken. One 
objection was received in connection with the revised scheme which 
raised the following concerns:

- Landscape and Visual Impacts
- Inappropriate operating hours
- Access and Highway Safety 
-

Consultees

6.3 The following table shows the comments received from relevant 
statutory consultees in connection with the application in its revised 
form for two industrial units

Consultee Comments

Chapel-en-le-Frith Parish Council The Committee request the application be 
deferred to HPBC Development Control and a 
site visit undertaken. 

The Committee have concerns regarding the 
proximity of one of the buildings to the 
perimeter of the site and that not enough 
necessary steps are proposed to reduce 
noise and light pollution. Members suggested 
an earth bank may help reduce noise. 

If HPBC were mindful to approve the 
application the Committee agree works 
should not begin until the wall belonging to 
the Parish Council which has been removed 
by the applicant be reinstalled.

HPBC Environmental Health No objection, subject to conditions including 
contamination, noise levels, use of alarms on 
folk lift trucks, dust, waste disposal, piling and 
construction times. 

Severn Trent Water No comments to make

AES Waste Collection No objections

Page 40



5

DCC Highways Authority
I refer to your request for comments on the 
attached revised details submitted in 
association with the above application.
I note that the proposal is now for 2no. units 
rather than 1no. unit, however, the overall 
GFA of 850sq.m. is identical.

If the extant use of the site isn't considered to 
be unrestricted haulage yard, details of 
perceived trip generations for both proposed 
and extant use of the site will need to be 
submitted to demonstrate whether or not the 
development proposals will be likely to result 
in an intensification in use of the existing 
access with Sheffield Road.

However as stated within the original 
highways response, if extant use is 
unrestricted haulage yard, it is considered 
that any objection on the grounds of 
substantial intensification in use of the 
existing access would be unlikely to prove 
sustainable. Previous comments with respect 
to off-street parking clear of manoeuvring 
remain applicable.

I note that a steel rail fence is to be erected 
across the end of parking spaces fronting the 
Public Right of Way. It would appear that 
users travelling north on the latter will emerge 
from behind the existing 'tree belt'. I've not 
been in a position to visit the site to assess 
pedestrian safety at the crossing point, 
however, this may not be considered an issue 
if visibility sightlines are good. 

I'd suggest this may be addressed by 
inclusion of the previously recommended 
condition 1 - even if the 'measure' just involve 
submitting details demonstrating appropriate 
visibility to be maintained clear of 
obstructions.

Therefore, I'd suggest that the original 
comments and recommendations remain 
applicable for the revised details.

HPBC Tree and Landscape 
Officer

I am ok with the landscaping it just needs an 
implementation condition. It won’t screen the 

Page 41



6

buildings, but it is probably the best solution 
given the restrictions on the site.  

There are protected trees (cons area) to the 
south of the site which should be protected 
during development This should also be a 
condition  it doesn’t need a method statement 
the area just need to be fenced off during 
works to prevent storage of materials etc.   

So a plan showing the location of the fencing 
needs to be submitted and the fencing to 
remain in place for the duration of the works  

HPBC Conservation Officer Allocated employment site and it appears to 
already be cleared and surfaced. If the 
principle is acceptable then it is all about 
screening adjoining the footpaths, former 
Peak Forest Tramway and at the far end of 
the site adjoining the fields– appropriate 
fencing and planting.

United Utilities No objections subject to conditions

HPBC Planning Policy Background/History:

The site is within the built up area boundary 
and is forms part of a Primary Employment 
Zone in the adopted High Peak Local Plan 
(2016). It is also allocated for employment in 
the Chapel-en-le-frith Neighbourhood Plan. 
The site is adjacent to the Peak Forest 
Tramway (PFT) and contains a section of the 
PFT long distance recreation trail designated 
in the Local Plan. 

Policy Considerations:

High Peak Local Plan

Policies of relevance to the Peak Forest 
Tramway include.

Policy S6 Central Sub-area strategy – refers 
to working with partner organisations to 
develop the Peak Forest Tramway as a multi-
user trail.

Policy EQ7 Built & Historic Environment – 

Page 42



7

seeks to protect designated and non-
designated heritage assets.

Policy EQ8 Green Infrastructure – promotes 
the protection and enhancement of networks 
of biodiversity and Green Infrastructure (GI) 
and broadly seeks to ensure development 
does not lead to a loss of or have a 
detrimental effect on existing GI and where 
appropriate development contributes to the 
creation of new or enhancement of existing 
GI. 

The policy promotes “the protection and 
extension of existing long-distance trails and 
development of a network of Greenways in 
accordance with the West Derbyshire and 
High Peak Greenway Strategy….” The Peak 
Forest Tramway (PFT) is a proposed route in 
the West Derbyshire and High Peak 
Greenway Strategy and is listed in table 8 
“Long Distance Trails and Local Trails in High 
Peak” in the preamble to the policy.

Comment

The PFT runs from Buxworth Basin to Dove 
Holes. It originally brought limestone and 
gritstone from local quarries in Dove Holes to 
be loaded onto boats at Buxworth Basin. The 
Peak Forest Tramway Trail has reopened 
from Buxworth Basin to Charley Lane near 
Bridgeholm Mill as a recreational route. 

The West Derbyshire and High Peak 
Greenway Strategy has a long-term aim to 
establish the Tramway as a Greenway. The 
Local Plan identifies the route of the PFT as a 
long-distance recreation trail. The route on 
the polices map runs from the start of the 
Tramway at Buxworth Basin to Chapel-en-le 
frith and largely follows the route of the old 
Tramway. Policy EQ8 reflects the Greenways 
Strategy and seeks to protect the route of the 
PFT to ensure it is safeguarded for potential 
future development as a recreational trail. 
The PFT is included in Derbyshire Key Cycle 
Network (KCN) Indicative Prioritisation 
Programme as a future long term route 
(typically over 5years). 

Page 43



8

The PFT is adjacent to the site to the east. 
The PFT long distance recreation trail  shown 
on the Local Plan policies map runs to the 
east of the site then deviates from the actual 
tramway as it turns at a right angle across the 
site and down the west side to link up with a 
public footpath.

The proposed development should not 
jeopardised the creation of the PFT long 
distance recreation trail and should ensure 
that there is potential for the PFT trail to cross 
the site from the Tramway to link up with the 
public footpath. The PFT is of historic interest 
and consideration needs to be given to the 
impact of development on any surviving 
features of the Tramway.

7. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Planning Policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
which is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless 
there are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 
70(2) provides that in determining applications the local planning 
authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, 
so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan consists of the Chapel-en-le-
Frith Neighbourhood Plan 2015 and the High Peak Local Plan Policies 
Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains that at the heart of the Framework 
is the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For decision 
makers this means that when considering development proposals 
which accord with the development plan, they should be approved 
without delay.  

Principle of Development

7.4 The application in its revised form seeks planning permission for two 
industrial units with associated off-street parking and landscaping on 

Page 44



9

the former Longson’s Transport Yard, situated in Chapel-en-le-Frith, 
one of the more sustainable larger Market Towns in the Borough. 
According the details submitted with the application the proposal will 
generate a total of 15 full time and 5 part time jobs. 

7.5 Historic aerial photographs shows that the application site has formed 
part of the wider Longson’s Yard in excess of 10 years and as such it 
can be concluded that the site has an extent use for industrial 
purposes.

7.6 Policy E1 of the adopted Local Plan supports new business and 
industrial development in sustainable locations particularly where new 
development will contribute towards the creation and retention of a 
wide range of jobs. 

7.7 Policy EP1 of the Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood Plan supports the 
principle of improvement, modernisation and the upgrading of existing 
employment sites. New development proposals should:

- Development should be visually attractive, compatible with the 
character of the surrounding area, include necessary screening, 
and be of a scale, design and finish appropriate to the locality, 
particularly where the development can be viewed from main roads 
or other heavily used areas, including high ground and beauty spots

- Development must include adequate internal roads (where 
applicable), parking, loading/unloading, servicing and manoeuvring 
areas

- Development must retain trees and hedgerows and seek to include 
additional planting and landscape management

- Proposals must include details of appropriate treatment of 
boundaries, and means of enclosure and surfacing within the site

- Development should have no unduly adverse effect on residential 
amenity 

7.8 Policy EP5 of the Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood Plan allocates the 
site for employment uses and identifies the following criteria on which 
new development will be assessed: 

- No unacceptable impact on neighbouring properties through noise, 
vibration, smell, smoke, dust, fumes, lighting, litter, traffic and other 
distribution, and no unacceptable impacts on residential amenity 
including of hours of operation

- Minimisation of opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour

- Improving the access from either Sheffield Road or Buxton Road

Page 45



10

- The neighbouring historic Peak Forest Tramway must be protected 
in the form of a buffering zone

7.9 The Local Plan Map shows the former Peak Forest Tramway (black 
dotted line) running parallel with the eastern boundary of the site and 
cross the site at right angles into the cluster of trees before joining the 
existing public footpath (HP6/81/1) that crosses the existing yard 
immediately south of the application site boundary. 

7.10 However, following further to internal consultation with the Council’s 
Policy Team and Derbyshire County Council, it has been established 
within a 2004 feasibility study for restoring the Tramway, the original 
route of the Tramway ran parallel with the eastern boundary as shown 
by the orange line on the map below – the existing public footpath 
shown by the purple line.

Page 46



11

7.11 LP Policy EQ8 aims to protect and enhance networks of Biodiversity 
and Green infrastructure which will be achieved by (amongst other 
matters) the protection and extension of existing long distance trails 
which includes the Peak Forest Tramway. 

7.12 The Council’s Planning Policy Team have confirmed that providing 
there is a suitable connection between the PFT and the public footpath 
network, the development would not preclude the desire to restore the 
PFT. The final layout would allow the PFT to connect with the existing 
public footpath and would therefore would not conflict with LP Policy 
EQ8.

7.13 The site also lies partially within the Town End Conservation Area and 
therefore the application is subject to LP Policy EQ7 and restrictive 
national policies contained under Chapter 16 of the NPPF. The 
application will only be supported where it can be demonstrated that 
there is no adverse harm to the heritage asset, or if harm is identified, 
whether there are sufficient public benefits that outweigh such harm.

7.14 The proposed development would involve an economic use of the site, 
which would generate new employment opportunities, on a site which 
allocated for such uses. As such the principle of development is 
considered to be acceptable provided the development meets the 
requirement of the relevant heritage conservation, highway and parking 
matters, landscape and residential amenity considerations. 

Page 47



12

Impact on Conservation Area

7.15 Section 72(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that with respect to any buildings 
or land in a conservation area, special attention shall be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of 
that area

7.16 LP Policy EQ7 has regard to the Built and Historic Environment. It 
states that the Council will conserve heritage assets in a manner 
appropriate to their significance. Paragraphs 189-201 of the NPPF set 
out how a Local Planning Authority should assess the significance of a 
heritage asset and how to assess the potential harm of a proposal 
upon that asset.

7.17 Where a proposal will lead to substantial harm or total loss of a 
designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent unless there are substantial public benefits that outweigh that 
harm. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial 
harm, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal.

7.18 The site forms part of an existing yard area associated with an 
employment use that has a predominantly urban character, bordered 
by trees on its western boundary and to the east by fields which lies 
partially within the Town End Conservation Area. The Conservation 
Officer identifies that the key consideration for preserving the overall 
character and appearance of this heritage asset is that appropriate 
screening, fencing and planting should be secured on the boundary 
with the PFT and adjoining fields.

7.19 Officers have worked constructively with the applicant in liaison with 
the Council’s Tree and Landscape Officer to secure a detailed soft 
landscaping and planting scheme. The submitted plans show that a 
1.8m high steel fence will erected around the perimeter of the site, with 
a native hedgerow planted along the eastern boundary of the site and 
individual trees positioned towards the south eastern section of the 
site.  Whilst it is not possible to screen the buildings in their entirety, 
given their overall size, the soft landscaping will assist in reducing the 
visual impact of the development when viewed from the east. From the 
west the existing belt of trees will again reduce the visual impact from 
residents and wider conservation area. 

7.20 Overall the Council are satisfied that the submitted landscape scheme 
minimises the visual impact of the development and when taking into 
account the existing industrial characteristic of the site, the setting of 
the conservation area would be sustained. Accordingly the 
development would comply with LP Policy EQ7, relevant paragraphs 
under Chapter 16 of the NPPF, and Section 72 of the Act 1990

Page 48



13

Design, Landscape & Visual Impacts

7.21 Policy EP1 of the Chapel Neighbourhood Plan requires development 
within employment sites to be visually attractive, compatible with the 
character of the surrounding area, include necessary screening and be 
of a scale, design and finish appropriate to the locality, particularly 
where the development can be viewed from main roads or other 
heavily used areas, which includes higher ground. The policy goes on 
to state that additional planting and landscape management should be 
secured, and include details of appropriate treatment of boundaries, 
means of enclosure and surfacing within the site.

7.22 Policy EP5 of the Neighbourhood Plan identifies that the any 
development of the site should protect the alignment of the Peak 
Forest Tramway in the form of a buffering zone. 

7.23 LP Policies S1 and EQ6 together set out a number of design principles 
that new development should adhere to. Proposals are required to be 
well designed to respect and contribute positively to the character, 
identity and context of High Peak’s townscapes, in terms of scale, 
height, density, and layout. Chapter 12 of the NPPF contains relevant 
national design policies and emphasises the importance of good high-
quality design.

 
7.24 Concerns were raised by a four local residents in connection with the 

landscape and visual impacts that would arise from the originally 
proposed single industrial unit due to its large footprint, height, and 
massing – particularly in the winter months when trees do not offer as 
much screening. The single objection received during the re-
consultation process argues that the proposed buildings are large and 
obtrusive and do not blend into the landscape.

7.25 The site lies within the built-up area boundary of Chapel-en-le-Frith and 
comprises a large area of hard standing that forms part of an existing 
yard area associated with an established employment use, thus giving 
the site an urban character. However, the surrounding land to the east 
is more sensitive, being on higher ground and offering views of the site 
and the wider townscape from the public footpath. It is therefore 
essential that any proposal is sensitively designed to respect its 
context. 

7.26 In its original form the application was considered by Officers to lack 
sufficient detail of landscaping, planting and appropriate boundary 
treatment details and that the scheme would benefit from two smaller 
buildings, in the interest of breaking up the scale and mass of 
development, particularly when viewed from the public right of way to 
the east.

Page 49



14

7.27 The revised plans demonstrate that by splitting the original building into 
two smaller units, the visual impact is reduced, particularly when 
viewed from the Peak Forestry Tramway to the east. Both buildings 
would be constructed of grey cladding, with a single roller shutter 
access door on the southern elevation. When combined with the 
reduced height of 6.0m, along with comprehensive landscaping details 
it is considered that the development would integrate with the 
surrounding character of the area. 

7.28 To the east are a number of large industrial buildings which can be 
found at Knoll End Road and the adjacent Street Crane site. When 
seen in this context the buildings will reflect the general industrial 
character of the area.  However, in order further minimise the visual 
impact of the building, particularly when viewed from higher ground to 
the east is recommended that a condition be imposed seeking to agree 
the colour of the roof. In general, a darker roof is preferable as this will 
ensure that when viewed from a distance its colour will assimilate with 
the slate roofs of the houses found to the west of the site and the 
conservation area.     

7.29 The updated Landscaping and Planting Schemes submitted by the 
applicant shows the boundary to be defined by a 1.8m tall steel rail 
perimeter fence for security purposes which would be supplemented by 
a native hedgerow to soften the appearance of the security fence. The 
western part of the site shows a grassland margin to the existing trees 
to be sown with wildflower meadow mix to increase the diversity of 
species. 

7.30 The public footpath (Peak Forest Tramway) that crosses the site is 
shown to be protected by a steel rail fence, whilst the bank of trees that 
define the western boundary would be retained. The existing hard 
standing area is shown to be tarmacked to facilitate the turning of 
lorries and staffing vehicles associated with the proposed use.

7.31 The revised layout of the scheme showing two smaller industrial units 
of equal floor area with a reduced height of 6m is considered to show a 
substantial improvement with regards to design comparable to the 
original proposals submitted.  The proposed units are considered to be 
appropriate in terms of their scale, height and massing in the context of 
their proposed use and the need for larger plant and machinery to 
access the building. 

7.32 The Council’s Tree and Landscape Officer has stated that whilst the 
landscaping and planting proposals would not fully screen the 
proposed buildings, they offer the best possible practical solution given 
the constraints of the site. 

7.33 Following an assessment of the revised plans and when taking the 
views of the Tree Officer into considerations, the proposed 
development, in its revised form, would not harm the character of the 

Page 50



15

area and therefore complies with Policy EP1 of the Neighbourhood 
Plan and Policy EQ6 of the Local Plan. 

Trees Woodland and Hedgerows

7.34 Policy EP1 of the Neighbourhood Plan requires development within 
employment sites to retain trees and hedgerows. LP Policy EQ9 seeks 
to protect existing trees, woodland and hedgerow and requires new 
development proposals where appropriate to provide tree planting and 
soft landscaping. Chapter 15 of the NPPF contains relevant national 
policies relating to the conservation and enhancement of the natural 
environment.

7.35 The application in its revised form has been accompanied by a detailed 
Landscaping and Planting scheme that includes the planting of a 
mixture of trees and a native hedgerow on the eastern boundary to 
soften the visual impact of the buildings, particularly when viewed from 
the public footpath that crosses the site. The trees on the western 
boundary are within the Conservation Area and thus protected and are 
shown to be retained. However a condition will be imposed requiring 
details of tree protection fencing to be erected during the construction 
works. 

7.36 Subject to appropriate conditions as recommended by the Tree Officer, 
it is considered that the application would not result in any adverse 
harm to any trees, woodland or hedgerow, in accordance with Policy 
E1 of the Neighbourhood Plan and Policy EQ9 of the High Peak Local 
Plan, and relevant paragraphs within Chapter 15 of the NPPF.

Public & Residential Amenity

7.37 Policy EP5 of the Neighbourhood Plan sets out that there should be no 
unacceptable impact on neighbouring properties by way of noise, 
vibration, smell, smoke, dust, fumes, lighting, litter, traffic and other 
disturbances, and no unacceptable impact on residential amenity 
including hours of operation. The application form confirms that 
proposed operational times are 0600-1700 Monday to Friday and 
0800-1700 Hours on a Saturday, and no workings on a Sunday and 
bank holidays. 

7.38 LP Policy EQ6 requires development to achieve a satisfactory 
relationship with adjacent development taking into account matters 
such as visual intrusion, overlooking, noise and light pollution. Policy 
EQ10 requires development proposals to mitigate any potential 
impacts in relation to pollution and unstable land. Chapter 12 of the 
NPPF emphasises the need for development to respect the amenity of 
existing and future occupiers.

7.39 The site is located within an existing and well-established employment 
and industrial area, which has operated for a variety of uses including 

Page 51



16

open storage and vehicle parking. Therefore, a balance needs to be 
struck between encouraging the enhancement and expansion of an 
businesses and protecting the amenity of neighbouring properties.

7.40 The original plans attracted objections from neighbouring residents in 
relation to potentially adverse harm to residential amenity by way of 
noise and light pollution, and loss to privacy. The re-consultation 
attracted a single objection, which cites that the level of noise 
associated with existing use is already high and that the expansion of 
the site would lead to an unacceptable increase in noise levels. This 
objection also states that the operational hours of the existing use are 
not appropriate given the nearby residential properties, and that little 
has been done by the applicant to minimise this issue.

7.41 The nearest residential properties to the site are located to the west 
and south west of the site. Rear elevations and gardens of properties 
on Bowden Lane and Market Street are separated from the proposed 
development by a minimum of approx. 60m and situated on the other 
side of an established cluster of trees that define the western boundary 
of the existing employment use.

7.42 Given the above context, it is considered that there would be no loss of 
privacy to any neighbouring properties. With regards to light pollution, 
the proposed units do not include any external lighting and if any 
lighting is necessary a condition can be imposed to agree these details. 

7.43 It is noted that the Council’s Environmental Health Officer has raised 
no objection to the proposals subject to appropriate conditions. Such 
conditions include the use restricting the use of alarms for forklift 
trucks, restricting the external noise levels of the site, dust and 
construction working times, all of which will minimise the impact on the 
closest residential properties. Moreover, it is considered necessary to 
restrict the working times to those set out in the application to protect 
residential amenity.    

7.44 The public footpath, which lies just beyond the southern boundary of 
the site and crosses this existing industrial site is shown to be 
protected by a steel frame fence and as such, it is not considered that 
the amenity of users of this public footpath would be adversely affected 
by the development.

7.45 Taking into account the land use designation of the site, it is 
considered that subject to appropriate conditions, the proposed 
expansion of this existing employment and industrial use would not 
result in any adverse harm to public or residential amenity, in 
accordance with Policy EP5 of the Neighbourhood Plan, LP Policies 
EQ6 and EQ10 and Chapter 12 of the NPPF.

Parking Provision and Highway Safety

Page 52



17

7.46 Paragraph 108 of the NPPF requires applicants to demonstrate that 
safe and suitable access can be achieved for all users. Paragraph 109 
goes on to state that applications should only be refused on highway 
grounds where there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be severe.

7.47 Policy EP1 of the Neighbourhood Plan requires all development 
proposals relating to employment land to incorporate adequate internal 
roads (where applicable), parking, loading/unloading, servicing and 
manoeuvring areas. Policy EP5 which relates specifically to this site, 
requires any proposal to include improvements to the widening of the 
access on to Sheffield Road.

7.48 LP Policy CF6 requires that new developments are located where the 
highway network can satisfactorily accommodate traffic generated by 
the development and requires applicants to submit details of parking 
which includes the proposed parking provision based on the parking 
guidance set out in Appendix of the Local Plan. Appendix 1 of the Local 
Plan contains the Council’s parking guidance, which for general 
industrial buildings such as the proposed (B2 Use) in a town centre or 
edge of town location such as this, requires 1 x space for every 25sqm 
of floor area. Accordingly, the development would need to provide a 
total of 34 parking spaces. 

7.49 In its revised form, the site would provide 17 x parking spaces for each 
unit and located in two district areas. Each parking spaces would have 
a minimum dimension of 2.4m x 5.5m and a large turning area is also 
proposed to accommodate lorries and staff vehicles, surfaced in 
tarmac. As such the development would meet the requirements of the 
Local Plan in terms of parking provision. 

7.50 The Highways Authority raise no objection to the proposed 
development but have raised a concern with pedestrian safety and 
suggested an appropriate condition to ensure that appropriate visibility 
can be achieved. However, these comments have been made without 
the benefit of a site visit, owing to Covid-19 restrictions. Having visited 
the site, officers are satisfied that users of the footpath emerging from 
the tree belt would not experience any barriers to visibility from vehicles 
accessing the site. The steel fence separating the footpath from the 
site stops some 5m short of the crossing point and would thus not be 
harmful to pedestrian safety.

7.51 The application does not include any provisions to increase the width of 
the access on to Sheffield Road, and therefore results in a degree of 
conflict with Policy EP5 of the Neighbourhood Plan. The harm caused 
through this conflict needs to be weighed against the benefits, which is 
undertaken in the following planning balance section of the report. 
However, as noted above the site is an established 

Page 53



18

industrial/commercial site, which has operated for several years without 
any impact on highway safety.   

Other Issues

7.52 Public comments have raised other material grounds of objection that 
have not been covered above relating to Flood risk and Ecology,

7.53 The site is located in Flood Zone 1 and is therefore not in an area that 
could potentially result in an increase in flood risk to the site or 
elsewhere. The site is an industrial site in its character and is not 
constrained by any statutory ecological designation. It does not contain 
any features, other than the trees to the west, which are to eb retained, 
which could reasonably be judged to accommodate protected species 
that would be impacted by the proposal. Accordingly flooding and 
ecology matters are not considered to be a constraint to the 
development of the site. 

7.54 The comments of the Parish Council are noted. In respect of the matter 
relating a wall, this is a civil issue between both parties to resolve. 
Matters relating to lighting can be controlled by an appropriate planning 
condition. The Parish have suggested that an earth bank be installed, 
however, the submitted landscape scheme will ensure that appropriate 
landscaping can be achieved. 

Conclusions/Planning Balance

7.55 LP Policy S1a reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development set out within paragraph 11 of the NPPF. For decision 
taking this means approving development proposals that accord with 
an up-to-date development without delay; or where there are no 
relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
planning permission, unless:

- the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 
refusing the development proposed; or

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

7.56 The application lies within the built-up area boundary of Chapel-en-le-
Frith and within the conservation area. As such, the application is 
subject to LP Policy EQ7 and restrictive policies under Chapter 16 of 
the NPPF. An assessment of the application has concluded that given 
the urban nature of the site and its proximity to an active established 
industrial estate and the context of the site, the provision of two 
industrial units would not result in any adverse harm to the character 

Page 54



19

and appearance of the site or wider conservation area, in accordance 
with restrictive policies relating to heritage conservation.

7.57 Following positive and pro-active engagement with the applicant’s 
agent, the final set of plans have been found to accord with all relevant 
policies within the Chapel Neighbourhood Plan, the High Peak Local 
Plan, and all other material considerations including the NPPF.

7.58 In line with LP Policy S1a and paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the 
application is recommended for approval subject to appropriate 
conditions

8. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. That planning permission be granted subject the following 
conditions:

1. 3 Year Time Limit

2. Approved Plans
 
3. Contaminated Land Site Risk Assessment (Env Health)

4. Construction – Dust (Env Health)

5. Construction – Waste Disposal (Env Health)

6. Piling (Env Health)

7. Construction – Time of Operations (Env Health)

8. Landscaping Scheme Implementation

9. Construction Layout (Highways)

10. Parking to be laid out prior to first use (Highways)

11. Public footpath to be kept open at all times.

12. In the event that lighting is needed, a scheme to be submitted. 

13. Operating times: 0600-1700 Monday to Friday, 0800-1700 on 
Saturdays and at no time on a Sundays and bank holiday. 

14. Prior to commencement details for surface water drainage scheme 
(United Utilities)

15. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems (United 
Utilities).

Page 55



20

16. Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for the 
protection of existing trees during construction. 

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager – Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the 
changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 187 of the NPPF the Case Officer 
has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

Site Plan

Page 56



1

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 22nd February 2021 

Application 
No:

HPK/2020/0062

Location Buxworth Football Club
Proposal Retrospective Advertisement Consent for the retention of 17 x 

pitch perimeter hoarding signs 
Applicant Mr Mark Burgess
Agent N/A
Parish/ward Chinley Buxworth and 

Brownside / Blackbrook
Date registered 14th October  
2020

If you have a question about this report please contact: James Stannard, 
Tel. 01298 28400 extension 4298, james.stannard@highpeak.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Refuse.

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

1.1 This application has been brought before the Development Control 
Committee because a previous application on the site was considered 
by the Committee.

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site relates to the playing pitch at Buxworth Football 
Club that lies immediately to the north of Western Lane and to the west 
of the Cricket Pitch, separated by a public footpath.

2.2 The public highway is situated in an elevated position comparable to 
the pitch, bounded by a dry-stone wall with the playing pitch having a
noticeable slope that runs away from the boundary wall to the north.

2.3 The western and northern perimeters of the playing pitch take the form 
of a post and rail fence that stands at approximately 1.5m in height. 
The western perimeter contains 12 x individual signs with a further 5 x 
signs positioned on the northern boundary. Each hoarding has a typical 
height of 800mm and a width of 1200mm.

2.4 The site is situated outside of the built-up area boundary in the open 
countryside and in the Green Belt.

Page 57

Agenda Item 9



2

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 Further to a complaint in respect of unauthorised development and a 
subsequent enforcement investigation, this application has been 
submitted which seeks the retention of the 17 x hoarding signs.

3.2 The application has been accompanied by the following plans and 
documentation:

- Location Plan
- Proposed Site Plan
- Sign elevation 
- Supporting Statement

3.3 The Supporting Statement confirms that the signs have been in situ 
since June 2018 and that the signs have been erected to generate 
additional sponsorship income for the Football Club who were unaware 
that advertisement content was required. Reconsultation was 
undertaken due to a change to the description of the signs.  

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The site has been subject to the following planning history:

HPK/0002/5465 Relocation of football pitch (Approved 23/06/1987)

HPK/2019/0295 Proposed re-levelling of existing football pitches and 
associated engineering and drainage works 
(Approved 11/08/2020)

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
EQ3 Rural Development
EQ6 Design and Place Making
CF6 Accessibility and Transport

Revised National Planning Policy Framework 2019

Achieving Sustainable Development Chapter 2
Promoting Sustainable Transport Chapter 9
Achieving Well Designed Places Chapter 12

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 4th January 2021

Page 58



3

Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments: 22nd Dec 2020

Press Notice Expiry date for comments: N/A

Neighbours

6.1 The application has received 7 x representations in connection with this 
application, 6 of which object to the application and 1 that proposes a 
suitable condition as a compromise that requires the hoardings be 
removed at the end of the playing season or re-located. The grounds of 
objection are summarised as follows:

- Landscape and Visual impact
- The signs would be less visually intrusive if they were position away 

from the houses and road. 
- The signs have extremely bright colours and there are far too many 

of them.
- The signs are especially noticeable on the northern boundary to 

local residents. 
- This is a rural location 

Consultees

6.2 The following comments have been received from consultees following 
the re-consultation in light of the change to the description of 
development

Consultee Comments

Chinley, Buxworth and 
Brownside Parish Council

No objections to the principle of retaining 
hoarding signs but would request that 
suggestions made by local residents are taken 
into consideration, specifically that either the 
signs be removed at the end of the playing 
season or be re-positioned along the Western 
Lane perimeter so that they are seen by 
spectators but not seen by neighbouring 
residents

DCC Highways Authority No objections

7. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE

Legislation

Page 59



4

7.1 The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) 
Regulations 2007 (as amended) defines the circumstances in which 
adverts require advertisement consent. Schedule 1, Class A confirms 
that advertisements displayed on enclosed land that is readily visible 
from outside the enclosed land does require advertisement consent. 

7.2 Paragraph 3 of the above regulation’s states that a Local Planning 
Authority shall exercise its powers under these Regulations in the 
interests of amenity and public safety, taking into account: 

(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as they are 
material; and

(b) any other relevant factors

7.3 Relevant factors include the general characteristics of the locality, 
including the presence of any feature of historic, architectural or similar 
interest. In addition, factors relevant to public safety include the safety 
of persons using the highway; whether the display of the advert is likely 
to obscure or hinder the interpretation of a highway or traffic sign and 
whether the advert hinders a device used for security or surveillance 
for measuring the speed of a vehicle.

7.5 In taking account of factors relevant to amenity, the Local Planning 
Authority may, if it thinks fit, disregard any advert that is being 
displayed. 

7.6 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine  
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are 
material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2) 
provides that in determining applications the local planning authority 
"shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as 
material to the application and to any other material considerations." 
The Development Plan consists of the High Peak Local Plan Policies 
Adopted April 2016.

Principle of Development

7.7 The application seeks retrospective permission (Advertisement 
Consent) to retain the 17 x hoarding signs. In line with Advertisement 
Regulations 2007 (as amended) strategic policies including those that 
relate to the Green Belt are not relevant to this application.

7.8 The principle of development is acceptable subject to the authority 
being satisfied that the adverts do not give rise to any adverse impacts 
relating to amenity or public safety, having regard to the relevant 
factors set out above.

Amenity

Page 60



5

7.9 The applicant’s supporting Statement argues that whilst the Local Plan 
contains general policies regarding visual amenity and highway safety, 
there are no specific policies relating to advertisements and therefore 
the provisions of the Local Plan are not considered to be material in 
this case. This argument is refuted by Officers as the Local Plan is the 
key material consideration used to assess the impacts of the proposed 
advertisements. Any sign should be designed to compliment and reflect 
the character of an area. 

7.10 LP Policy S1 sets out a number of sustainability principles which all 
new development proposals should incorporate in order to make a 
positive contribution towards the sustainability of communities and to 
protect, and where possible enhance the environment.

7.11 LP Policy EQ3 refers to rural development proposals which lie outside 
of the defined built-up area boundaries and seeks to ensure that new 
development is strictly controlled in order to protect the landscape’s 
intrinsic character and distinctiveness.

7.12 LP Policy EQ6 states that all development should be well designed to 
respect and contribute positively to the character, identity and context 
of High Peak’s townscapes, in terms of scale, height, density, and 
layout.

7.13 The site lies in the open countryside outside of the built-up area 
boundary in a prominent location, highly visible from Western Lane to 
the south, which is situated in an elevated position, and from a public 
footpath that runs parallel with the eastern boundary of the playing 
pitch.

7.14 Whilst Officers are sympathetic to the needs of the Club to generate 
income through advertising, in order to maintain the facilities, the 
presence of 17 individual signs, all of a different design and colour, 
leads to a sense of visual clutter which cumulatively dilutes and 
adversely impacts on overall visual amenity of the area. Buxworth is a 
rural village, which contains stone buildings and open spaces leading 
to higher slopes of poor grazing. This rural character is typical of many 
villages through the Borough. The signs, given their location and 
number, which are highly visible from western lane and the public right 
of way are considered to adversely affect the visual amenity of the rural 
setting in which they are positioned. Accordingly, the signs have a 
negative impact on the rural character and appearance of the area, 
contrary to LP Policies S1, EQ3 and EQ6.  

7.15 It should be noted that the applicant has been advised that the Council 
would, without prejudice to any subsequent plans submitted, likely look 
more favourably towards a scheme that reduces the number of signs 
visible from Western Lane and the nearby public footpath.

Public Safety

Page 61



6

7.16 LP Policy CF6 seeks to ensure that development can be safely 
accessed in a sustainable manner and that all new development is 
located where it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the existing 
highway network.

7.17 The hoarding signs are clearly visible from the public highway however 
they would not impeded obscure or hinder the interpretation of any 
highway or traffic sign. The Highways Authority has no objection to this 
application, and therefore there is no reason to conclude that the signs 
harm highway safety. As such, there are not considered to be adverse 
impacts arising from the proposed advertisements with regards to 
public safety, in accordance with LP Policy CF6.

8. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. REFUSE for the following reasons:

1. The proposed signage, by virtue of its siting in a prominent 
location in the open countryside, and the number of individual 
adverts, would result cumulatively result in visual clutter that 
adversely affects the visual amenity of the site and thereby 
contributes negatively to the overall character and appearance of 
the site and rural landscape, contrary to High Peak Local Plans 
Policies S1, EQ3 and EQ6.

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager – Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the 
changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussions with the 
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 38 of the NPPF the Case Officer 
has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. However in 
this case it has not been possible. 

Page 62



7

Site Plan

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



1

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 22nd February 2021  

Application No: HPK/2020/0437
Location Sweet Water Cottages, Longridge Lane, Peak Dale
Proposal Erection of general-purpose agricultural building
Applicant Mr Steven Wardle
Agent Mr Howard Elliott – Reading Agricultural Consultants Ltd
Parish/ward Wormhill Green and Fairfield Date registered 19th Oct 

2020
If you have a question about this report please contact James Stannard, 
Tel. 01298 28400 extension 4298, james.stannard@highpeak.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve with Conditions

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

1.1 This application has been brought before the Development Control
Committee due to the Committee’s previous involvement with earlier 
planning applications on this site.

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The site relates to a small parcel of land to the south west of Sweet 
Water Cottages, Longridge Lane, Fairfield, approximately 2 miles north 
east of Buxton which is made up of an area of hard standing which 
accommodates two shipping containers.

2.2 Sweet Water Cottages is a residential dwelling that was converted in 
February 2013 under HPK/2012/0722. In addition to the shipping 
containers, the area of hard standing to the west of the dwelling is 
home to a cluster of small agricultural buildings that have been subject 
to previous applications determined by the Committee.

2.3 Surrounding this parcel of land to the north and south are 
approximately 1.8ha of agricultural land that was found at the time of a 
site visit to be home to a small number of livestock and cattle.

2.4 The applicant operates a small agricultural enterprise from this site 
which is supplemented by parcels of rented land at Tideswell, Batham 
Gate, Sterndale Moor, Buxton and Chinley which when taken together 
comprises some 19.8ha of land. 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



2

2.5 The site is accessed via a single farm track that extends eastwards 
from Longridge Lane that also serves the neighbouring property to the 
east of Sweet Water Cottages, Broadlow Farm. This neighbouring 
property has a principal elevation that faces southwards onto a front 
garden.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 The application as originally submitted sought consent for a general-
purpose agricultural building which had a portal frame structure with 
walls formed of concrete panels and green profile sheeting above.

3.2 However it confirmed that the building would be used to house 
livestock and be sited in place of the existing shipping containers and 
as originally submitted was shown to have a rectangular form which 
measured 7.5m by 18.2m, having an eaves height of 3.6m and an 
overall ridge height of 4.2m.

3.3 Further to concerns raised by Officers with regards to the scale, height 
and massing of the building, revised plans and documentation have 
been submitted. The revised dimensions show the building to span a 
width of 7.5m, a length of 16.0m, an eaves height of 3.4m and ridge 
height of 4.0m.

3.4 The plans that have been subject to assessment within this report are 
thus set out as follows:

- Location Plan RAC 1 (Rev 1)
- Site Plan RAC 2 Rev A
- Elevations RAC 3a Rev A
- Floor and Roof Plans RAC 3b Rev A
- Existing and Proposed Landscaping RAC 4
- Location of Occupied Land
- Planning Statement
- Additional Information received 18th December 2020
- Additional Information received 11th January 2021

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The site has been subject to the following planning history:

HPK/0003/3352 Conversion of barn and store to 2 holiday cottages 
(Approved 13/04/1994)

HPK/2012/0027 Removal or variation of condition 1 to change from 
holiday cottages to residential (Refused 16/04/2012)

HPK/2012/0358 Certificate Of Lawful Development For Retention Of Use 
As A Dwelling (Refused 16/08/2012)

Page 66



3

HPK/2012/0722 Proposed Change of Use And The Conversion Of Two 
Holiday Cottages To Form A Single Dwelling Including 
Reducing The Curtilage Area (Approved 12/02/2013)

DET/2014/0010 Proposed General Purpose Agricultural Building 
(Prior Approval Required and Refused 20/10/2014)

HPK/2017/0269 Two agricultural buildings & hardstanding 
(Approved 05/09/2017)

DET/2019/0004 Proposed agricultural building 
(Prior Approval Required and Refused 24/04/2019

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Settlement Hierarchy
S7 Buxton Sub-area Strategy
EQ2 Landscape Character
EQ3 Rural Development
EQ6 Design and Place Making 
EQ10 Pollution and Land Stability
CF6 Accessibility and Transport

Adopted Supplementary Planning Documents

Landscape Character Supplementary Planning Document (2006)
Design Guide SPD (2018)

Revised National Planning Policy Framework 2019

Achieving Sustainable Development Chapter 2
Promoting Sustainable Transport Chapter 9
Achieving Well Designed Places Chapter 12
Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment Chapter 15

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 19th November 2020

Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments: 9th November 2020

Re-consultation letters Expiry date for comments: 2nd February 2021

Press Notice N/A

Page 67



4

Neighbours

6.1 Two objections have been received from both occupiers of the 
neighbouring property Broadlow Farm. A summary of the grounds of 
objection are set out as follows:

- Questions justification for the building
- Intensification and over-development of the site (small agricultural 

holding) and shared access not within applicants control
- Impact of development upon residential amenity, including smells
- Makes reference to reasons for refusal under DET/2019/0004

6.2 Further to receiving amended plans, a full 21-day public re-consultation 
was undertaken. The objections received in relation to the original 
plans were reiterated by the neighbours of Broadlow Farm, a summary 
of which is set out below:

- Proposals still visible from the public highway
- Levels of activity and vehicular movements will increase
- Continues to question extent of agricultural business on site
- Reference to dispute over ownership of private access track and 

responsibility for maintaining it
- Impact on amenity and enjoyment of property

Consultees

6.3 The following table shows the comments received from relevant 
statutory consultees in connection with the application in its revised 
form for two industrial units

Consultee Comments

DCC Highways Authority No objection subject to the 
development remaining ancillary to 
the agricultural operations of the 
existing premises and surrounding 
tied land with no future sub-letting 
or selling-off.

Wormhill Parish Council OBJECT – Not aware that this is a 
working farm because of the small 
acreage and as this type of 
building is associated with farming 
and livestock – the Parish Council 
question the need for it and what 
other purposes it could be used for

Page 68



5

HPBC Environmental Health No objection. The applicant should 
be advised, however, if the 
proposal results in any amendment 
to a private water supply, the 
provisions of The Private Water 
Supplies (England) Regulations 
2016 (as amended) shall apply, in 
particular to the use of products 
and substances.

7. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Planning Policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
which is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless 
there are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 
70(2) provides that in determining applications the local planning 
authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, 
so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan consists of the the High Peak 
Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains that at the heart of the Framework 
is the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For decision 
makers this means that when considering development proposals 
which accord with the development plan, they should be approved 
without delay, but where the development plan is absent, silent or 
relevant policies are out of date, grant planning permission unless any 
adverse impacts would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a 
whole.

Principle of Development/Agricultural Need

7.4 The application site lies outside of the built-up area boundary in the 
open countryside and is therefore subject to Local Plan (LP) Policy 
EQ3. This policy seeks to ensure that new development is strictly 
controlled in order to protect the landscape’s intrinsic character and 

Page 69



6

distinctiveness. The Policy supports proposals for agriculture and 
related development which help sustain existing agricultural enterprises 
including new agricultural buildings. 

7.5 Paragraph 83 of the NPPF supports the development and 
diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural businesses. 

7.6 The application has been supported by a Planning Statement, which 
submits the following justification for the building:

 The agricultural business operates from Sweet Water Cottages and 
in addition to the 1.8ha at the site, involves rented land at Batham 
Gate, Buxton, Tideswell, Sterndale Moor and Chinley (as shown on 
the ‘Location of Occupied Land’ Plan)

 The land supports the following:

o 3 x suckler cows
o 2 x store cattle
o 115 x ewes
o 42 x store sheep

 Further to agricultural buildings which were granted retrospectively 
in 2017 it is submitted that the applicant is wishing to consolidate 
his sheep and cattle rearing activity, and as such requires additional 
space to handle sheep under cover, particularly at lambing time

 The applicant is also wishing to extend his cattle rearing activity by 
the introduction of a small scale calfing rearing operations and due 
to the limitations of the existing buildings, it has not been possible to 
maintain the number of store cattle, as the space was required for 
lambing the sheep flock

 The introduction of the calf rearing activity would enable a larger 
throughput of stock from a lesser area of building

7.7 At the request of Officers, further additional information has been 
submitted by the applicant’s agent that provides clarification on what 
each parcel of land at various locations is used for, together with 
further clarification on the current operations and justification for the 
proposed building:

 Details of the use of each parcel of land

 Since acquiring the land and dwelling at Sweet Water Cottages, the 
applicant has been developing the farming enterprise in parallel 
with his other occupation as an agricultural engineer. The agent 
submits that the applicant is operating in the margins of the 
agricultural land market where there is a continuous turnover of 
small areas of land. 

Page 70



7

 The areas of land occupied by the applicant is used for grazing by 
sheep and cattle on a rotational basis, with grazing at Sweet Water 
Cottages safeguarded for use in conjunction with the buildings in 
that location (e.g. pregnant ewes are returned prior to lambing)

 It is submitted that no buildings are available on the off-lying land 
units to meet these functions and that logistically, it would be 
impracticable to meet these requirements over the dispersed 
pattern of units. The Sweet Water Cottages unit benefits from the 
availability of an on-site dwelling from which Mr Wardle is able to 
deliver the necessary level of animal welfare supervision in the 
above circumstances.

 The application submits that the proposed building would 
compliment the operational regime and provide capacity in the 
event that the applicant gains access to additional land (being on 
the waiting list for tenancy opportunities at the nearby Tarmac land 
estate).

 The proposed building also offers opportunities to provide storage 
capacity for equipment and materials stored externally or in the 
cargo containers currently occupying the footprint of the building, – 
the use of the building is flexible which can be readily adjusted to 
accommodate changes in the base livestock activity, given the 
short-term cyclical nature of the calf rearing.

7.8 The objection received from the current occupiers of the neighbouring 
property make reference to the Council’s previous decision under 
DET/2019/004 which refused consent for an agricultural building on a 
similar site under the prior approval process under Part 6 of the 
General Permitted Development Order 2015 (as amended) for the 
following reason:

“The erection of the building, due to its bulky appearance and siting 
would adversely affect the landscape and the character and 
appearance of the countryside. Accordingly, the development fails to 
comply with Policy EQ2 and EQ6 of the High Peak Local Plan 2016, 
the Councils Landscape Character Assessment SPD, and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019.”

7.9 The informative that accompanies the above decision states the 
following:

“Notwithstanding any ability to overcome the above reason for refusal 
the proposed development would be positioned on an agricultural unit 
of less than 5 hectares, whereby under Schedule 2, Part 6, Class B of 
the GPDO, new buildings are not permitted development. Moreover, 
the building would be sited within 400m of the curtilage of a protected 
building and it is questioned whether the development is reasonably 

Page 71



8

necessary for the purposes of agricultural within the unit. Accordingly, it 
is not considered to be permitted development and planning 
permission is required for the development.” 

7.10 This application has therefore been submitted in light of the proposed 
building not being compliant with the relevant parts of the General 
Permitted Development Order 2015 and thus requires planning 
permission.

7.11 There is no doubt that the site is used for agricultural activities in 
conjunction with an established agricultural unit, as previously 
assessed within the committee report when considering the 
retrospective applications for the two agricultural buildings under 
HPK/2017/0269.

7.12 Unlike the previous application, the applicant’s agent has submitted an 
extensive detailed explanation of the current operations on site, on 
those sites elsewhere in the Borough and a detailed justification for the 
agricultural building. Overall, the applicant utilises nearly 20 hectares of 
land for agricultural purposes. 

7.13 Given that there is an established agricultural enterprise operating from 
the site, and that the agricultural need of such a building has been 
satisfactorily demonstrated, the principle of the development is 
considered to be acceptable, meeting the requirements of Policy EQ3. 
However, this is subject to the application demonstrating that the 
proposed building would preserve the intrinsic character of the rural 
area, would not result in any adverse harm to residential amenity and 
would not lead to any adverse impacts to highway safety. 

7.14 Concerns have been raised from occupiers of the adjacent property 
with regards to the intensification of and potential overdevelopment of 
the site. Whilst these matters are relevant in so as far the overall 
impact on landscape character, residential amenity and highway 
safety, they do not alter the fact that local and national planning 
policies support the expansion of existing agricultural enterprises and 
thus the principle of development is supported.

Design, Landscape and Visual Impact

7.15 LP Policy EQ2 requires new development in the open countryside to 
preserve or enhance the character of the rural landscape having regard 
to the adopted Landscape Character Assessment SPD (2006). LP 
Policy EQ3 supports rural development including agricultural buildings 
provided they preserve landscape character.

7.16 LP Policy EQ6 requires all development to be well designed to respect 
and contribute positively to the character, identity and context of High 
Peak’s townscapes, in terms of scale, height, density, and layout.

Page 72



9

7.17 The Design Guide SPD highlights that in the countryside, buildings 
should sit comfortably in the landscape. With regards to larger 
buildings, the guidance goes on to state that these need to be handled 
carefully, and that their appearance is usually driven by their use and 
their importance to the local economy, and may not sit comfortably 
within a more traditional context. Impacts can be softened by giving 
buildings a low profile.

7.18 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states amongst other matters that new 
development should add to the overall quality of the area, be visually 
attractive as a result of good architecture and sympathetic to the 
surrounding built environment.

7.19 The site is located within the Plateau Pastures Landscape Character 
Area (LCA) as defined within the Landscape Character SPD, which is  
described as a gently rolling, upland plateau characterised by 
nucleated limestone villages, dry stone walls, a pastoral land-use and 
open and expansive views. Development principles for larger scale 
development, including agricultural buildings, include incorporating 
materials that weather well and are sympathetic to the landscape 
including colour and to reflect the scale, proportions and form of 
existing traditional farm-outbuildings. 

7.20 A previous application submitted for an agricultural building of a similar 
scale, height and visual appearance under the prior notification 
procedure (DET/2019/0004) was refused on ground of its adverse 
harm to landscape character – which is referred to by the objection 
from occupiers of the neighbouring dwelling.

7.21 The reason for refusal issued by the Council in relation to the previous 
prior notification application was as follows:

1. The erection of the building, due to its bulky appearance and 
siting would adversely affect the landscape and the character 
and appearance of the countryside. Accordingly, the 
development fails to comply with Policies EQ2 and EQ6 of the 
High Peak Local Plan 2016, the Council’s adopted Landscape 
Character SPD (2006) and the NPPF

7.22 The dimensions of the building refused under this previous prior 
notification application were consistent with the plans originally 
submitted with this application. Notwithstanding the above, the 
agricultural building did not comply with relevant parameters contained 
under Part 6 of the General Permitted Development Order (GPDO).

7.23 Officers have acknowledged the objection from the neighbouring 
property and would agree that the building in its original form could not 
realistically be supported, given the Council’s previous conclusions 
having regard to the same Local Plan policies.

Page 73



10

7.24 The applicant was invited to submit revised plans to reduce the overall 
scale, height and massing. Such revisions have been received together 
with a supporting statement. Moreover, in comparison to the earlier 
application in 2019, the agent has submitted commentary on the 
impact on the which did not form part of the previous application.

7.25 In its revised form, the proposed building is of a relatively modest scale 
and height that has a reduced footprint, height and mass comparable 
to the building originally proposed and is considered to be reasonable 
for its proposed function, which incorporates elements set out within 
the Landscape Character SPD. 

7.26 The revised plans incorporate an area of soft landscaping to the east of 
the building, which would help to minimise any immediate visual 
impacts experienced from the front garden of the neighbouring 
property. The details of the soft landscaping can be secured by way of 
condition.

7.27 The nearest public right of way lies nearly 200m to the north of the site. 
As such, it is considered that the proposed building would at this 
distance be read in conjunction with the existing agricultural buildings 
on the site of a similar scale, height and visual appearance. As such it 
would not amount to a prominent addition in the landscape. 

7.28 At the time of a site visit, the overall appearance of the site was found 
to be cluttered and untidy, emphasised by the presence of the two 
shipping containers which are not considered to be appropriate for this 
rural location. The proposed agricultural building would replace these 
structures which would result in a modest visual enhancement of the 
site.

7.29 For the reasons outlined above, it is concluded that the proposed 
agricultural building in its revised form has addressed the previous 
reason for refusal and would be of a scale, height and visual 
appearance that aligns with the functionality and practicalities of its use 
and preserves the overall character of the immediate and wider rural 
landscape, in line with LP Policies EQ2, EQ3 and EQ6, Supplementary 
Planning Guidance and paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

Public and Residential Amenity

7.30 LP Policy EQ6 requires all new development to have a satisfactory 
relationship with existing land and buildings to protect the amenity of 
the area, which includes the residential amenity of neighbouring 
properties. Aspects of residential amenity include loss of sunlight, 
overshadowing and overbearing impacts, loss of outlook and loss of 
privacy.

7.31 LP Policy EQ10 requires new developments to ensure that public 
amenity is preserved having regard to issues including noise, odour, air 

Page 74



11

pollution and land stability amongst other matter and that to mitigate 
these impacts, suitable conditions should be attached to decision 
notices where appropriate.

7.32 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning should create places 
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.

7.33 The objections received from the occupiers of the neighbouring 
property cite potentially adverse impacts to their enjoyment and living 
conditions, specifically in relation to the intensification of the use of the 
site, the increase in plant and machinery utilising the shared access 
track and smells.

7.34 Reference is made to the decision taken by the Council in considering 
an application for an agricultural building under the Prior Notification 
process under Part 6 of the General Permitted Development Order 
(GPDO) 2015 (as amended). The application was refused on grounds 
of landscape and visual impact. However, notwithstanding this reason 
for refusal, the informative accompanying this decision confirms that 
this previous proposal failed to comply with relevant parts of the GPDO 
and thus was not permitted development.

7.35 The garden area associated with the neighbouring property Broadlow 
Farm is situated to the east of the principal elevation approximately 
10m from the nearest point of the shared access track and 27m from 
the proposed building.

7.36 Responding to these objections, the applicant has stated the 

“The use of the building to house livestock would not generate any 
adverse environmental effects. As with the existing buildings, the 
proposed building would have adequate ventilation and the animals 
would be bedded on straw.  Soiled bedding is removed from the 
buildings for use on the land and none is currently stored on-site. This 
would continue, but should the need arise planning permission has 
been granted for the construction of an on-site midden which is in the 
course of implementation.”  

“Reference has been made to the proximity of the farmstead and the 
proposed building to the residential property of Broadlow Farm and to 
the 400m safeguarding prescription associated with agricultural 
permitted development rights. That prescription is not an embargo to all 
circumstances of livestock housing and was introduced following 
concerns arising from particular forms of intensive livestock production, 
notably pigs and poultry, highlighted by the Royal Commission on 
Environmental Pollution (7th Report). These and slurry storage 
systems present potential environmental issues which are not 
replicated in the uses made of the existing or proposed buildings at 
Sweet Water Cottages.”

Page 75



12

7.37 The previous prior notification application for an agricultural building 
was determined in line with the parameters set out under Part 6 of the 
GPDO. In order for a building to be permitted under this procedure, a 
building for the accommodation of livestock must be located in excess 
of 400m from a neighbouring residential property to benefit from 
permitted development rights. 

7.38 The application, which includes the applicant’s commentary sited in 
paragraph 7.37 above has been reviewed by the Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer who has raised no objection to the 
application. Whilst it is acknowledged that the building will result in 
more animal being housed within close proximity to the neighbouring 
property, it is not considered that this would unduly harm the amenities 
of this property.   

7.39 As such, it is concluded that the proposed building and its proposed 
use would not result in any adverse harm to public or residential 
amenity, in line with LP Policies EQ6, EQ10, and paragraph 127 of the 
NPPF.

Highway Safety

7.40 LP Policy CF6 seeks to ensure that development can be safely 
accessed in a sustainable manner and that all new development is 
located where it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the existing 
highway network.

7.41 Paragraph 108 of the NPPF states that in assessing applications for 
development, a safe and suitable access to the site should be achieved 
for all users. Paragraph 109 goes on to state that development should 
only be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe.

7.42 The site is served by an existing farm access track that leads into an 
open area of hard standing that provides suitable turning and 
manoeuvring provision to serve the existing and proposed buildings on 
site.

7.43 The Highways Authority have raised no objection to the proposed 
building subject to the development remaining ancillary to the 
agricultural operations of the existing premises and surrounding tiled 
land with no future sub-letting of selling off. It is noted that the objector 
raises concerns about the impact on the private track from Longridge 
Lane, which serves both properties. Whilst any additional use may well 
result in a further decline in the condition of the track, this is a civil 
matter for both parties to resolve. 

7.44 The application is not considered to result in any significant increase in 
vehicular movements and therefore subject to an appropriate condition 

Page 76



13

that ties the building to the agricultural unit without any sub-letting or 
selling off, there are not considered to be any adverse impacts to 
highway safety, in line with LP Policy CF6 and paragraph 108 of the 
NPPF.

Conclusions/Planning Balance

7.45 LP Policy S1a reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development set out within paragraph 11 of the NPPF. For decision 
taking this means approving development proposals that accord with 
an up-to-date development without delay; or where there are no 
relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
planning permission, unless:

- the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 
refusing the development proposed; or

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

7.46 The application seeks permission for an agricultural building that would 
support an established agricultural business, and thus the principle of 
development is supported in line with LP Policy EQ3.

7.47 Further to concerns raised by Officers relating to the scale, height, and 
mass of the building, having regard to the earlier decision taken by the 
Authority, the applicant has submitted revised plans together with 
supporting information and show a reduction in the scale, height and 
mass of development which is supplemented by an area of soft 
landscaping.

7.48 The plans and documentation subject to the assessment within this 
report are found to be of a scale, height, mass and visual appearance 
that is both appropriate for the functionality of the building and 
preserves the character and appearance of the building, the site, and 
the immediate and wider rural landscape character.

7.49 The application is not considered to result in any adverse harm to 
public or residential amenity, or highway safety.

7.50 In conclusion, the application, in its revised form, is considered to 
comply with all relevant local development plan policies, relevant 
supplementary planning documents, and the NPPF.

7.51 The application thus constitutes sustainable development and in line 
with LP Policy S1a and paragraph 11 of the NPPF is recommended for 
approval subject to appropriate conditions.

Page 77



14

8. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. That planning permission be granted subject the following 
conditions:

1. Development to begin within 3 years

2. Approved Plans

3. Materials to accord with details submitted

4. Soft Landscaping Scheme to be submitted and approved prior to 
construction of external walls, and implementation. 

5. Building to remain ancillary to agricultural unit for the lifetime of 
development and will not be sub-let or sold off separately

6. Removal of the building from the land if it ceases to be used for 
agricultural purposes.

7. Removal of the shipping containers from the land. 

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager – Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the 
changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 187 of the NPPF the Case Officer 
has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

Site Plan

Page 78



15Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

22nd February 2021 

Application 
No:

HPK/2018/0092

Location 1 Greggs Avenue, Chapel en le Frith 
Proposal Single storey side extension to existing semi-detached 

property - retrospective
Applicant Mr C Tomlinson
Agent None
Parish/ward Chapel West Ward Date registered 06/06/2018
If you have a question about this report please contact: Mark 
Ollerenshaw, Tel. 01538 395400 extension 4921, 
mark.ollerenshaw@highpeak.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE with conditions

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

1.1  This application has been brought before the Development Control 
Committee at the request of Cllr Young on the basis that it is retrospective 
and encroachment of highway land.

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 This application relates to a semi-detached two storey property and 
associated gardens and driveway. The property is situated at the end of 
the row of properties on this side of Greggs Avenue with a footway 
immediately  adjacent to the south side and then the carriageway leading 
to Downlee Close.

2.2 The area is residential in character and the site is within the built up area 
boundary of Chapel en le Frith.   

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

3.1 This application seeks retrospective planning permission for a single 
storey side extension.

3.2 The extension has been built on the driveway to the side of the property 
and extends along the full length of the gable end – approx. 8.1m. It 
projects approx. 2.5m from the original side elevation, its eaves height is 
approx. 2.6m and maximum height is approx. 3.5m. Materials used in the 
external surfaces of the development comprise matching brick and render 
with a concrete tiled roof.

Page 81

Agenda Item 11



3.3 The side extension and an unauthorised fence erected to the side of the 
property outside of the domestic curtilage were subject to investigations 
by the Planning Enforcement Team.

3.4 The application, the details attached to it including the plans and the 
responses of the consultees can be found on the Council’s website at: 

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServle
t?PKID=222452

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

None.

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Settlement Hierarchy
S6 Central Sub Area Strategy 
EQ6 Design and Place Making
CF6  Accessibility and Transport 

Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood Development Plan

H3 – Design Criteria
TR1 – Information Required to Support Planning Applications

National Planning Policy Framework

Paragraph 2 – 14
Chapter 9 Promoting sustainable transport
Chapter 12 Achieving well-designed places

Supplementary Planning Documents

High Peak Design Guide 2018
Residential Design SPD 2 Adopted December 2005

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 12/07/2018
Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments: 28/06/2018
Press Notice N/A

Neighbours

Page 82

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=222452
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=222452


6.1  None received.

Consultee Comment Officer response

Chapel En Le 
Frith Parish 
Council

No objection.

Severn Trent 
Water

No comments received.

DCC Highways Original comments 26/06/2018

The owner has erected an 
unauthorised fence to the side 
which encroaches onto the 
public highway. The Council’s 
Legal Section have written to the 
owner advising that the fence be 
removed by 30 June 2018.

It would appear that the SE 
elevation of the extension is on 
the line of the highway boundary 
and the applicant has installed 
domestic apparatus – a meter 
box which would open outwards 
over the highway and a 
drainpipe. It is not clear what 
system the drainpipe is 
connected to but there can be on 
domestic drainage into the 
highway drainage system.

The extension has removed a 
section of drive reducing the 
space available for on site 
parking to just one space which 
is below standards. There is 
space to the frontage to provide 
replacement parking but this 
would require relocation of street 
name plate, removal of garden 
and widening of dropped kerb, 
and as the site slopes to public 
highway, the installation of 
appropriate drainage. None of 
which has been included in this 
submission.

To the rear of the extension 

Paras 7.13 – 7.20

Page 83



there would appear to be an 
outbuilding/log store not included 
on the drawings which 
encroaches on the highway. It is 
not clear whether these would 
require planning permission.

On the basis of the above the 
applicant would have difficulty 
replacing the fence onto its 
correct alignment.

The main highway issue is the 
loss of on site parking and as 
such the proposals are open to 
highway objections. This could 
be overcome by the inclusion of 
a condition for the provision of 
additional parking space to the 
frontage of your Authority may 
choose to seek revised drawings 
to resolve the matter.

Revised comments 25/01/2021

Unfortunately, due to the current 
pandemic restrictions, I’ve still 
been unable to visit the site, 
however, I have received a 
number of photo’s showing the 
existing situation.

The images indicate that the 
extension and gully are located 
outside of the existing public 
highway. It’s not clear where the 
drainage is connected to 
although, from speaking with the 
applicant, I understand that they 
were advised by their architect/ 
builder? at the time of 
construction that all apparatus 
should be clear of the highway 
therefore I would expect that this 
may be confirmed.

The fence erected between the 
footway and carriageway of 
Downlee Close has been 
removed as has the original site 

Page 84



boundary fence. The latter has 
resulted in there being no hard 
edging to restrain the footway 
construction and it’s 
recommended that a PCC back 
edging is put in place to both 
clearly define the highway 
boundary in future as well as 
support the footway 
construction.

Measures to prevent the meter 
box door opening out over the 
highway were discussed (clear 
Perspex cover was mentioned if 
acceptable to the suppliers) 
although I don’t know whether 
anything has been implemented 
to allay this concern.

I trust that you will ensure that 
the level of off-street parking 
within the site satisfies the 
requirements of your own 
Authority’s Standards and 
spaces meet the recommended 
dimensions. Any under provision 
would be likely to result in 
vehicles being parked on the 
fronting roads, or on footway, in 
close proximity to a junction, 
situations considered against the 
best interests of safe operation 
of the public highway. Given the 
parking layout on the attached 
photo, the lack of boundary 
fence between the footway and 
existing drive is likely to result in 
vehicles over-running the former 
thereby supporting the above 
recommendation to provide edge 
restraint for the rear of footway.

Therefore, subject to it being 
confirmed that the meter box 
door does not open out over the 
footway, drainage connections 
are clear of the highway and 
adequate off-street parking 
being demonstrated (to be 

Page 85



maintained in future clear of any 
obstructions), there are no 
highway objections.
 

7. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Planning Policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to 
be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there 
are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2) provides 
that in determining applications the local planning authority "shall have regard 
to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application 
and to any other material considerations." The Development Plan currently 
consists of the High Peak Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016 and the 
Chapel Neighbourhood Development Plan.

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 
Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) promotes a
‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’. For decision takers this 
means (c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay; or (d) where there are no relevant 
development plan policies, or the policies which are more important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole.

7.4 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF identifies three dimensions to sustainable 
development as being economic, social and environmental.

7.5 The presumption in favour of sustainable development is reflected in 
Local Plan policy S1, where it states that the Council expects all new 
development to make a positive contribution towards the sustainability of 
communities and to protecting, and where possible enhancing the 
environment. Policy S1a sets out how the Council will work with applicants to 
secure development that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area.

Page 86



Principle of Development

7.6 The application site lies within the development boundary whereby the 
principle of extending a dwelling is acceptable, subject in this case to matters 
relating to design, amenity and parking which are discussed in detail below.   

Design – Impact on the street-scene & character and appearance of the 
area

7.7 Section 12 of the NPPF aims to ensure that developments function well 
and add to the overall quality of the area and are visually attractive. Local plan  
policy EQ6 requires that all new development should be well designed and be 
of a high quality that responds positively to the environment. The High Peak 
Design Guide requires extensions to respect the dominance of the original 
building and be subordinate in terms of size and massing. 

7.8  Although the proposed extension is clearly visible in the street scene 
due to its position on the end of the building, it is a modest addition which 
projects 2.5m from the side of the property.  The overall design, including 
lean-to roof design and fenestration, are sympathetic to the appearance of the 
property. Materials used in the external surfaces of the development comprise 
matching brick and render with a concrete tiled roof. These are acceptable 
and ensure that the extension assimilates with the host property. The scale 
and design of the proposal are acceptable in the context of the residential 
area and it is not harmful to the street scene.

7.9 The proposed extension therefore achieves a satisfactory relationship 
to the existing building and the impact on the street scene is acceptable. 
Accordingly it is considered that the proposal complies with Policy EQ6 of the 
Local Plan, the High Peak Design Guide and Section 12 of the NPPF.

Amenity

7.10 Paragraph 127 f) of the NPPF seeks to secure a high standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants. Local Plan Policy EQ6 requires 
development to achieve a satisfactory relationship to adjacent development 
and to not cause unacceptable effects by reason of visual intrusion, 
overlooking, shadowing, overbearing effect, noise, light pollution or other 
adverse impacts on local character and amenity.

7.11  The proposal, due to its position on the side elevation of the property, 
does not affect the attached neighbouring property, No. 3 Greggs Avenue. 
The neighbouring property facing towards the site on the opposite side of 
Greggs Avenue (No. 2) is not significantly affected by the extension which is 
approx. 22m away from this neighbour. Similarly, the neighbouring property to 
the rear (No. 12 Downlee Close) is approx. 24m away and would not be 
adversely affected. The extension does not contain any windows to the side 
elevation facing towards No. 83 Frith View to the south east and this 
neighbour is also not affected. 

Page 87



7.12 Therefore, as a result of its siting and scale, the proposed extension 
does not have any undue harm on the amenity of neighbouring properties. 
The proposal is in accordance with the provisions of local plan policy EQ6 and 
paragraph 127 f) of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Parking and Access

7.13 Paragraph 102 of the NPPF states that patterns of movement, streets, 
parking and other transport considerations are integral to the design of 
schemes and contribute to making high quality places. Local Plan Policy CF6 
seeks to provide safe and sustainable access and ensure that development 
does not lead to an increase in on street parking. 

7.14 Derbyshire County Council Highways raised objections to the proposed 
development as originally presented on a number of grounds, as detailed 
(above) in their original consultation response dated 26th June 2018.  In 
summary, the concerns related to an unauthorised fence to the side of the 
extension which encroached onto the public highway; a meter box and 
drainpipe that had been attached to the side wall of the extension 
overhanging the highway; the possibility that domestic drainage from the 
extension connected into the highway drainage system; and the need to 
provide appropriate off road parking space within the site to compensate for 
the parking space lost to the side of the building as a result of the side 
extension.  Highways advised that the latter could be overcome by inclusion 
of a condition for the provision of an additional parking space within the site.

7.15 Since the original consultation response from Highways, the 
unauthorised fence erected to the side of the extension which encroached on 
the highway has been removed. With regard to the extension itself and 
adjacent gully, Highways comment in their latest consultation response that 
images provided by the Applicant indicate that these are located outside of 
the existing public highway, but that it is unclear where the drainage is 
connected to.

7.16 Highways advise that, subject to it being confirmed that the meter box 
door does not open out over the footway, drainage connections are clear of 
the highway and adequate off-street parking being demonstrated (to be 
maintained in future clear of any obstructions), there are now no highway 
objections.

7.17 An additional off road parking space has now been formed within the 
garden to the front of the property, meaning that there are now 2 no. parking 
spaces within the site, which, according to the Parking Guidance set out in the 
Local Plan, would be considered sufficient provision for a three bedroom 
property. However, it is unclear whether the parking spaces are of the 
recommended minimum dimension of 2.4m x 5.5m or whether the space 
parallel to the frontage of the building can be accessed without having to 
travel along the footway of Downlee Close. It is considered that this matter 
can be addressed by way of a condition requiring provision of 2 spaces of 

Page 88



sufficient size within the site in accordance with details to be submitted for 
approval.

7.18 As a result of the removal of the original site boundary fence there is no 
hard edging to restrain the footway construction and Highways recommend 
that a PCC back edging is put in place to both clearly define the highway 
boundary in future as well as support the footway construction. The lack of a 
boundary fence between the footway and existing drive is likely to result in 
vehicles over-running the former thereby supporting the above 
recommendation to provide edge restraint for the rear of footway. This latter 
requirement can be secured by way of a condition.

7.19 Confirmation is currently being sought from the Applicant that the meter 
box door does not open out over the footway and drainage connections are 
clear of the highway. Members will be updated on these matters via the 
Update Sheet.

7.20 Therefore, taking the above into account, and subject to the Applicant 
providing the above confirmations, it is concluded that there would be no 
adverse, or ‘severe’, impact on highway safety and the proposal thereby 
complies with the provisions of section 9 of the NPPF and Local Plan policy 
CF6.

Planning Balance & Conclusion

7.21 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. In accordance with paragraph 11 of the NPPF, this means that 
local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the 
development needs of their area and approve development proposals that 
accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay. 

7.22 The proposals are considered to be acceptable in terms of their 
appearance and design and will not be harmful to the amenity of neighbouring 
properties or highway safety. This application is considered to accord with the 
relevant policies contained in the High Peak Local Plan 2016, Chapel 
Neighbourhood Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework; accordingly it is recommended that planning permission be 
granted.  

        8. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. APPROVE, subject to the following conditions;

Condition number Brief description Comment
AP01 Approved Plans

DE03 Matching materials.

NSTD 2 no. off road parking 
spaces to be provided 

Page 89



within the site and  hard 
edging installed to 
restrain the footway 
construction in 
accordance with details 
which shall first have 
been submitted to and 
approved by the LPA.

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do not 
exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 38 of the NPPF the Case Officer 
has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

Site plan

Page 90



Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

22nd February 2021 

Application 
No:

HPK/2020/0508

Location 27 Thomas Street, Glossop 
Proposal Proposed ground floor rear extension to replace existing 

conservatory and a first floor side extension above existing 
garage (to be rebuilt).

Applicant Mr and Mrs G Wharmby
Agent Mr Alan Sorah
Parish/ward Old Glossop Ward Date registered 23/11/2020
If you have a question about this report please contact: Mark 
Ollerenshaw, Tel. 01538 395400 extension 4921, 
mark.ollerenshaw@highpeak.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE with conditions

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

1.1  This application has been brought before the Development Control 
Committee because the applicants are elected members of High Peak 
Borough Council.

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 This application relates to an end terraced two storey dwelling situated on 
the eastern side of Thomas Street which is a cul-de-sac to the south of 
Sheffield Road, Glossop. The property, which fronts directly onto the 
footway, includes an attached garage/domestic workshop and driveway to 
the side and a garden to the rear.

 
2.2 The site is within a residential area and the built-up area boundary of 

Glossop.   

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 This application seeks permission for a two storey side extension following 
demolition of the existing attached garage/workshop and porch, together 
with a single storey rear extension to replace the existing rear 
conservatory.

3.2 The proposed extensions would provide a new garage, kitchen and 
orangery on the ground floor with new bedrooms above. Due to the 

Page 93

Agenda Item 12



internal alterations proposed to its layout, the property would remain as a 
3 bedroom unit.

3.3 The application, the details attached to it and the plans, together with the 
responses of the consultees, can be found on the Council’s website at: 

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServle
t?PKID=244090

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

None.

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Settlement Hierarchy
S5 Glossopdale Sub Area Strategy 
EQ6 Design and Place Making
CF6  Accessibility and Transport 

National Planning Policy Framework

Paragraph 2 – 14
Chapter 9 Promoting sustainable transport
Chapter 12 Achieving well-designed places

Supplementary Planning Documents

High Peak Design Guide 2018
Residential Design SPD 2 Adopted December 2005

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 22/12/2020
Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments: 16/12/2020
Press Notice N/A

Neighbours

6.1  No representations have been received.

Consultee Comment Officer response

DCC Highways Given that streetview images 
show a dropped kerb crossing of 

Paras 7.17 – 7.21

Page 94

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=244090
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=244090


the footway across the frontage 
of the garage, it's assumed that 
the existing workshop/ store has 
permitted use as a garage and 
therefore, whilst exit visibility and
pedestrian intervisibility will be 
compromised by the building, it's 
unlikely that any objections to 
the proposals on highway 
Grounds could be sustained. 
Notwithstanding, the proposed 
garage door will need to be of a 
type that does not involve 
opening out over the existing 
highway.

7. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Planning Policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to 
be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there 
are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2) provides 
that in determining applications the local planning authority "shall have regard 
to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application 
and to any other material considerations." The Development Plan currently 
consists of the High Peak Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 
Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) promotes a
‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’. For decision takers this 
means (c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay; or (d) where there are no relevant 
development plan policies, or the policies which are more important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole.

Page 95



7.4 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF identifies three dimensions to sustainable 
development as being economic, social and environmental.

7.5 The presumption in favour of sustainable development is reflected in 
Local Plan policy S1, where it states that the Council expects all new 
development to make a positive contribution towards the sustainability of 
communities and to protecting, and where possible enhancing the 
environment. Policy S1a sets out how the Council will work with applicants to 
secure development that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area.

Principle of Development

7.6 The application site lies within the built-up area boundary of Glossop. 
Accordingly, the general principle of extending a dwelling is acceptable, 
subject in this case to matters relating to design, amenity and highway safety, 
which are discussed in detail below.   

Design – Impact on the street-scene & character and appearance of the 
area

7.7 Section 12 of the NPPF aims to ensure that developments function well 
and add to the overall quality of the area and are visually attractive. Local plan  
policy EQ6 requires that all new development should be well designed and be 
of a high quality that responds positively to the environment. The High Peak 
Design Guide requires extensions to respect the dominance of the original 
building and be subordinate in terms of size and massing. 

7.8 The existing side extension is located in a prominent position on the 
end of the building and is somewhat unsightly having a flat roof and finished in 
render to the side elevation with a glazed porch which do not match the rest of 
the original building, which is a traditional stone terrace property.

7.9 The proposal is to rebuild the garage/kitchen extension and then 
construct a first floor side extension above which would be built in stone and 
slate to match the existing building. As is the case with the existing garage, 
the new garage would be built flush with the front elevation of the original 
dwelling. However, the first floor extension above would be set back 900mm 
from the original front elevation and the pitched roof would also be slightly 
recessed from the existing main roof. The extension would therefore appear 
as a subordinate addition to the original building. The new first floor windows 
to the front and rear of the extension have been designed to have a vertical 
emphasis with stone heads and cills to match the existing windows to the 
property. Overall, this proposal represents a visual improvement to the 
property and the street scene as it will replace the existing unsympathetic side 
extension with a well-designed extension which better reflects the character of 
the original building. 

7.10  The proposed single storey rear extension will replace the existing 
conservatory and extend across the rear of the original property and the new 

Page 96



side extension. With a lean-to roof and natural stone and slate finish to match 
the existing building, this extension is also considered to be sympathetic to 
the original building. It is noted that the two terraced properties immediately to 
the north of the site (Nos. 23 and 25) already have single storey rear 
extensions of a similar design to the current proposal.

7.11 As such, this application is considered to accord with Local Plan Policy 
EQ6, the High Peak Design Guide and section 12 of the NPPF in this regard.  

Amenity

7.12 Paragraph 127 f) of the NPPF seeks to secure a high standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants. Local Plan Policy EQ6 requires 
development to achieve a satisfactory relationship to adjacent development 
and to not cause unacceptable effects by reason of visual intrusion, 
overlooking, shadowing, overbearing effect, noise, light pollution or other 
adverse impacts on local character and amenity.

7.13  In relation to the impact on the attached neighbouring occupier 
immediately to the north, No. 25 Thomas Street, this neighbouring property 
has been extended to the rear with a single storey extension which projects 
approx. 2.8m from the original rear wall. The neighbour’s extension does not 
contain any side facing windows and the window to the rear of it would not be 
affected by the proposed single storey rear extension as this would project the 
same distance from the rear as the neighbour’s extension and a gap will be 
maintained between the two extensions to enable continued access to the 
alleyway between the two properties.  

7.14 The neighbouring property on the opposite (western) side of Thomas 
Street, No. 28, will face towards the proposed side extension  and be approx. 
14m away. Although this separation is well below the recommended 21m 
separation distance between facing windows, this street is characterised by 
terraced properties which face towards each other at close range. There is 
already a degree of overlooking between the existing windows to the front of 
the application property and No. 28 (and other properties opposite) and the 
side extension would be unlikely to significantly worsen this situation. 

7.15 Neighbouring properties to the rear (east) and other side (south east) 
of the site would not be significantly affected by the proposed side or rear 
extensions given that these are off-set relative to the application property and 
there are established shrubs etc in between which will filter views of the 
extensions from these neighbouring properties. Furthermore, a separation 
distance of c.20m would be maintained to these dwellings. 

7.16 The proposed development is therefore considered to be acceptable 
and will not result in any undue harm to the amenity of neighbouring 
properties. The proposal is in accordance with the provisions of Local Plan 
Policy EQ6 and paragraph 127 (f) of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 97



Parking and Access

7.17 Paragraph 102 of the NPPF states that patterns of movement, streets, 
parking and other transport considerations are integral to the design of 
schemes and contribute to making high quality places. Policy CF6 seeks to 
provide safe and sustainable access and ensure that development does not 
lead to an increase in on street parking. 

7.18 Following construction of the proposed extensions the property would 
remain as a 3 bed dwelling, and therefore the proposals would not require an  
increase in off road parking provision on the site. In any case, the property is 
sustainably located within relative close proximity of the services and facilities 
available in Glossop Town Centre, and is readily accessible to public 
transport, including Glossop Railway Station and regular bus services 
operating along Sheffield Road.

7.19 The Highway Authority comments that a dropped kerb crossing of the 
footway across the frontage of the existing workshop/garage has been 
installed. On the basis that the existing workshop/garage has permitted use 
as a garage, Highways advise that although exit visibility and pedestrian 
intervisibility will be compromised by the new extension, it is unlikely that any 
objections to the proposals on highway grounds could be sustained. It is clear 
from historic images that the both the dropped kerb and the existing garage 
have been in-situ for many years and would be considered lawful. Therefore, 
taking into account the existing situation, the proposed extension would not 
result in any additional impact on highway safety. 
 
7.20 Highways advise that the proposed garage door will need to be of a 
type that does not open out over the existing highway. This requirement can 
be secured by way of a condition attached to the recommendation.

7.21 It is concluded that there would be no adverse, or ‘severe’, impact on 
highway safety and the proposal thereby complies with the provisions of 
section 9 of the NPPF and Local Plan policy CF6.

Planning Balance & Conclusion

7.22 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. In accordance with paragraph 11 of the NPPF, this means that 
local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the 
development needs of their area and approve development proposals that 
accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay. 

7.23 The proposals are considered to be acceptable in terms of their 
appearance and design and will not be harmful to the amenity of neighbouring 
properties or highway safety. This application is considered to accord with the 
relevant policies contained in the High Peak Local Plan 2016 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. Accordingly it is recommended that planning 
permission be granted.  

Page 98



        8. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. APPROVE, subject to the following conditions;

Condition number Brief description Comment
TL01 3 year commencement 

of development

AP01 Approved plans

DE03 Matching materials  

NSTD The new garage door 
shall be of a type that 
does not open out over 
the existing highway and 
shall be retained as such 
in perpetuity.

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do not 
exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 38 of the NPPF the Case Officer 
has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

Location plan

Page 99



Page 100


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Planning Applications
	6 Tree Preservation Order at Eton House and Carlisle House, Broad Walk, Buxton (295)
	Appendix

	7 HPK/2020/0064 Land off Trenchard Drive, Buxton - Application to vary planning condition 2 attached to Full Application Ref: HPK/2018/0315
	8 HPK/2020/0047 Land adj to Sheffield Road, Chapel en le Frith - erection of two industrial units with associated off street parking and landscaping
	9 HPK/2020/0062 Buxworth Football Club - Retrospective advertisement consent for the retention of 17 x pitch perimeter hoarding signs
	10 HPK/2020/0437 Sweet Water Cottages, Longridge Lane, Peak Dale - erection of general purpose agricultural building
	11 HPK/2018/0092 1 Greggs Avenue, Chapel en le Frith - Single storey side extension to existing semi-detached property - retrospective
	12 HPK/2020/0508 27 Thomas Street, Glossop - Proposed ground floor rear extension to replace existing conservatory and a first floor side extension above existing garage ( to be rebuilt)

